Phare *Ex Post* Evaluation. Phase 1, Multi-Beneficiary Programmes: Statistics



Statistics Multi-Beneficiary Programmes

Programmes covered: ZZ-9911 ZZ-0027 ZZ-0109 2002/000-602 2003/005-623

28 December 2006



The views expressed are those of the MWH Consortium and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Commission. This report has been prepared as a result of an independent evaluation by the MWH Consortium contracted under the Phare programme.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION DG Enlargement Evaluation Unit

Directorate E – General Matters & Resources E4 Evaluation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS

PREFACE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

MAIN REPORT

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Objectives of the Evaluation	1
1.2	Background and Context	1
1.3	Evaluation Questions	2
2.	PERFORMANCE OF PHARE ASSISTANCE	4
2.1	The statistics MBPs were relevant and well-designed	4
2.2	Some serious delays but generally efficiently managed	6
2.3	Good statistical support to key EU macro-economic policies.	8
2.4	Wider objectives largely achieved with high standards of statistical reporting	10
2.5	Sustainability remains a problem	11
3.	THEMATIC/ CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS	14
3.1	Performance of NSOs significantly improved	14
3.2	The administrative capacity of NSOs has been strengthened by Phare.	
3.3	The MBP approach was effective and essential	
4.	CONCLUSIONS AND LESSONS LEARNED	17
4.1	Conclusions	17
4.2	Recommendations	
4.3	Lessons Learned	19
ANNI	EXES	20
Anı	nex 1. Terms of Reference	21
Anı	nex 2. Evaluation Questions, Criteria and Indicators	
Anı	nex 3. Background to the Statistics MBPs	
Anı	nex 4. Statistical Series and EU Policies	
Anı	nex 5. Pilot Projects in 2002 and 2003 Statistics MBPs	
Anı	nex 6. Timelines of main activities and contractors	
Anı	nex 7. Table of the contractors per project	
	nex 8. Interim Evaluation Report with details of action taken by Eurostat	
	nex 9. List of interviews	
Anı	nex 10. List of documents referred to during the Evaluation	47

Glossary

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS

BR	Business Register
CC	Candidate Country
CDB	Compliance Database
CMR	Country Monitoring Report/ Comprehensive Monitoring Report
DAS	Data Availability Study
EC	European Commission
ESA 95	European System of Accounts 95
ESS	European Statistical System
Eurostat	Statistical Office of the European Community
GA	Global Assessment
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GNI	Gross National Income
GVA	Gross Value Added
HICP	Harmonised Indices of Consumer Prices
M€	Million Euro
MBP	Multi-Beneficiary Programme
MGSC	Management Group for Statistical Co-operation
MS	Member State(s)
NSO	National Statistical Office
PGSC	Policy Group for Statistical Co-operation
PC	ProdCom
РР	Pilot Project
SBS	Structural Business Statistics
SDDS	Special Data Dissemination Standard
SILC	Statistics on Income and Living Conditions
STS	Short-term statistics
Т	Tourism statistics
SIRE	Système Européen d'Informations Infra-Régionales
ТА	Technical Assistance funded from the MBP Grants
ToR	Terms of Reference
TU	Technical Unit (Eurostat)
WG	Working Groups (Eurostat and beneficiaries)

PREFACE

The purpose of this evaluation is to assess the contribution of the statistics multi-beneficiary programme to improvements in the performance of National Statistics Offices in the candidate countries relating to the production and dissemination of statistics in key areas (comparable with EU standards), and transfer of know-how and integration into the European Statistical System and its planning structures.

This *Ex Post* Evaluation Report has been prepared by the MWH Consortium between September and November 2005^1 and reflects the situation where four of the Phare statistics multi-beneficiary programmes under review have ended and the fifth is approaching completion. It examines the performance of the programmes in addressing the objectives stated in the formal programming documents, provides a general assessment of the programmes and draws conclusions and lessons learned from them.

The evaluation is based on an analysis of documents provided at the start, during and on completion of the programmes, and on the results of interviews with beneficiaries, contractors, users and Eurostat personnel. Following a sample approach this evaluation has its geographical focus on four new member states (Estonia, Poland, Hungary and Slovakia) and Bulgaria and Romania.

¹ This report was prepared by James Dorgan. It was reviewed at MWH Central Office by Martin White.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Statistics Multi-Beneficiary Programme

Scope and Objectives

The purpose of this evaluation is to assess the contribution of the statistics multi-beneficiary programmes (MBPs) to improvements in the performance of National Statistics Offices (NSOs) in the candidate countries (CCs) relating to the production and dissemination of statistics in key areas (comparable with EU standards), and transfer of know-how and integration into the European Statistical System (ESS) and its planning structures. Following a sample approach, this evaluation has a geographical focus on four new member states (Estonia, Poland, Hungary and Slovakia) and the two remaining candidate countries (Bulgaria and Romania).

The objectives of the statistics multi-beneficiary programmes were: (i) to strengthen the institutions of the NSOs and their co-ordinating role in the statistics systems of the candidate countries; (ii) to support the development of sustainable capacity of the national statistical offices to meet the needs of their customers for data which is accurate, reliable, timely and compliant with the *acquis*; (iii) to improve the quality of statistical information and provide policy makers and the international community with data of the highest reliability; (iv) to improve the production, collection and dissemination of high quality statistics comparable with Community methods in key areas related to the new *acquis*, and (v) to improve the ability of candidate counties to programme their activities in relation to the integration into the European Statistical System.

The statistics multi-beneficiary programmes were financed through five successive annual allocations between 1999 and 2003, totalling M \in 51.4. Following the accession of eight new member states in 2004, assistance has continued for Bulgaria and Romania with allocations in 2004 and 2005. The 2005 programme also included Croatia and Turkey.

Key evaluation findings

The statistics multi-beneficiary programmes were well designed; they were consistent with the pre-accession strategy and the content took account of the views of stakeholders. The activities were targeted at key areas of importance for policy, and the general design has been developed for the statistics programmes funded from the 2004 and 2005 Transition Facility. The combination of pilot projects, supported by Eurostat and technical assistance, and multi-sectoral activities has been particularly effective.

Alleged irregularities within Eurostat led to some disruption of the 2002 and 2003 programmes, and led to some overlaps in the planning of the 2003 activities. Some of the adverse consequences were mitigated by extra efforts by Eurostat and accession beneficiary country NSO experts. The requirement for external technical assistance is reducing with the development of local capacity, which has internalised many functions previously carried out by consultants. This effect on the market for external assistance has not been assessed.

Although activities are managed well by Eurostat technical units, there is no overarching management structure in Eurostat to monitor the allocation of resources. Programme activities were generally efficiently managed at the micro level, and decentralisation of disbursement processes has been a positive experience in terms of the development of capacity.

The management for the beneficiary countries consists of annual meetings of the Management Group for Statistical Cooperation, which includes representatives from the international departments of all CCs, Western Balkans and member state NSOs.

The 2002 and 2003 statistics multi-beneficiary programmes have built on the success of previous assistance, leading to progress which is particularly apparent in statistical support to key EU macro-economic policies. Transfer of know-how has continued with a particularly close and productive relationship between Eurostat and NSOs. By 2004, standards of compliance with acquis requirements were on average higher than member states although the complexity of the Compliance Database makes it difficult to make comparisons between countries.

Sustainability remains a problem especially with the loss of experienced personnel in some national statistical offices. However, institutional memory is likely to be sustainable through agreed information systems and documented and adopted procedures. External financial assistance has played a key part in underpinning statistical development and the sustainability of progress. This has been recognised through further assistance from the Transition Facility.

Main conclusions

The multi-beneficiary programme approach has been invaluable for uniform progress towards the integration of accession countries' statistical organisations into the European Statistical System. Eurostat's key role has secured complementarity and coherence between the assistance through multi-beneficiary programmes and national Phare assistance.

The successful implementation and the achievements of the statistics multi-beneficiary programmes fully justifies the continuation of the concept for Romania and Bulgaria, and for Croatia and Turkey, which will face a significant challenge adjusting to the *acquis* requirements. The multi-beneficiary programme approach has proved to be a secure and relatively low risk method for making progress.

The multi-beneficiary programme approach has proved to be essential for the rapid and efficient building of capacity and for the establishment of networks of professionals and links with Eurostat. The flexibility of the approach has meant that the needs of national statistical offices have been addressed during implementation. New member states will continue to face serious financial constraints in development of methodologies and it is likely that they will need financial assistance to support their national budget allocation to maintain the progress they have made.

Recommendations

A number of recommendations for active programmes and lessons learned for the future have been identified. These lessons could also have application to the Transition Facility funding for new member states, which continues elements of the multi-beneficiary approach.

Recommendation 1: The role of external consultants in the management and implementation of pilot projects should be reviewed and alternative means of acquiring the *necessary resources should be considered*. Although the volume of assistance given by external contracts is relatively small, and although Eurostat does not have the necessary human resources to take over the work done by the contractors in the various multi-beneficiary programmes, nonetheless, alternatives to the present arrangements should be explored, in

particular direct provision of management and technical expertise from Eurostat where this is feasible and the use of direct grants to the national statistics offices.

Recommendation 2: The overall progress monitoring system should be revised in order to yield readily accessible management information. There is a need for a formal annual review of the performance of each beneficiary even if this cannot be expressed in a compliance percentage.

Lessons learned

Lesson 1: The multi-beneficiary approach is essential for development of a common statistical framework. Given that the objective is the development of a system of comparable statistics, and related to international norms, the assistance has to be managed on a multi-beneficiary basis, or at least by a strong co-ordination mechanism which would deliver the same control.

Lesson 2: The combination of the pilot projects and technical assistance has proved to be an *effective method of delivering the multi-beneficiary approach*. The strength of the approach lies in the selection of important statistical series (including national accounts, poverty measures, and regional statistics), co-ordination of the work of the participants, arranging intensive inputs by experts, and close contact with the relevant Eurostat Technical Unit.

Lesson 3: The ranges of attainment by beneficiaries in various statistical areas imply that the concept that all countries should participate in all activities should be reviewed. Some candidate countries have proved better than others in adapting to the needs of the *acquis*. Consequently, there should be more selectivity in countries that participate in any particular pilot project. The marginal cost of an additional participant is significantly less than the average cost, but it is not negligible given that there are bilateral as well as horizontal exchanges, and laggard countries could use extra assistance. Participation in a pilot project also represents a significant cost to national statistical offices.

MAIN REPORT

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Objectives of the Evaluation

1. The purpose of this evaluation is to assess the success of the statistics multi-beneficiary programmes (MBPs) to improvements in the performance of National Statistics Offices (NSOs) in the candidate countries (CCs) relating to the production and dissemination of statistics in key areas (comparable with EU standards), and transfer of know-how and integration into the European Statistical System (ESS) and its planning structures.

2. The results of this evaluation of the Statistics MBPS provide a sample contribution to a consolidated evaluation of Phare multi-beneficiary programmes. In turn, this will form part of a consolidated *ex post* evaluation of the Phare programme.

1.2 Background and Context

- 3. The objectives of the Statistics MBPS were to provide assistance in the following areas:
- Strengthening National Statistical Offices (NSOs) and their co-ordinating role in the statistics system of the country;
- Supporting the development of sustainable capacity at NSOs to meet the needs of their customers for data which is accurate, reliable, timely and compliant with the *acquis;*
- Improving the quality of statistical information and to provide policy-makers and the international community with data of the highest reliability.
- 4. Two immediate objectives were also specified in each of the five programmes:
- Improving the production, collection and dissemination of high quality statistics comparable with Community methods in key areas related to the *acquis;*
- Improving the ability of CCs to programme their activities in relation to their integration into the European Statistical System (ESS).

5. The Statistics MBPS have been planned and implemented by Eurostat and comprise programmes ZZ-9911, ZZ-0027, ZZ-0109, 2002/000-602 and 2003/005-623. These have three main topics:

- **Pilot or sectoral projects (PPs)** focusing on a particular statistical series and supported by exchanges, discussions and consultations between the NSOs and Eurostat and international experts, to raise the standard of performance of NSOs to the level specified in the *acquis*.
- **Multi-sectoral activities**: technical assistance (TA) activities financed by a national grant negotiated annually between Eurostat and individual CCs on the basis of a joint view of problems facing the NSOs. This included a wide range of activities, including traineeships in Eurostat or EU-15 NSOs, study visits, consultancy services, formal training, participation in Eurostat Working Groups, and data collection projects.
- **Programme secretariat and monitoring activities** which include the maintenance of a compliance database, management of global assessments, dissemination of programme information and support to management meetings of CC NSOs (only present in ZZ-9911 and ZZ-0109).²

² This component was absorbed by Eurostat administration following the 2002 Programme.

6. In total M \in 51.4 million was allocated to the five programmes between 1999 and 2003. Of this, M \in 29.6 million was allocated to PPs and M \in 21.8 million to multi-sectoral activities (TA). Further background information is available at Annex 3.

7. The performance and results of Statistics assistance under ZZ-9911 ZZ-0027 and ZZ-0109 were independently evaluated by the EMS Consortium in 2003³. The key findings of the report were as follows:

- Improvements were visible in the increased availability of information, and positive changes were observed in CC NSOs;
- The programme was highly efficient due to a good implementation structure supported by experienced contractors, effective communications between all stakeholders and dedicated staff at the NSOs;
- Due to proper identification of needs, the programme was relevant and tools have been developed to address gaps between performance and the *acquis*. There was good co-ordination between the MBPS and other related programmes;
- The wider objective of the MBPS was being achieved;
- While lack of resources in some CC NSOs was a threat, the outputs of the MBPS were sustainable by virtue of the degree of integration of the NSOs into the ESS.

8. The report recommended improvements in the indicators of achievement, content and formatting of reports on the progress of projects, and of the programme in general, so as to identify objectives clearly, and to measure progress towards them.⁴

1.3 Evaluation Questions

9. This evaluation focuses mainly on the outputs produced by the Statistics MBPS, such as methodologies, statistical products and organisational strengthening through know-how transfer activities. It assesses the impact and sustainability of these outputs and the effectiveness and efficiency of the contribution of the Statistics MBPS to the performance of the NSOs in beneficiary countries, taking into account EU standards as benchmarks where relevant.

10. Evaluation questions were established in the Terms of Reference $(ToR)^5$ for this evaluation, and were divided into performance evaluation questions and thematic/ cross-cutting

 ³ See Monitoring and Interim Evaluation of the European Union Pre Accession Instrument Phare: Statistics Multi-Beneficiary Programmes ZZ-9911, ZZ-0027, ZZ-0109.
 ⁴ The set of the

⁴ This *ex post* evaluation generally endorses the findings of the Interim Evaluation Report subject to some reservations, particularly with respect to efficiency, which are noted in this Report. Recommendations of the Interim Evaluation Report are summarised in Annex 8, together with action taken or proposed by Eurostat. Recommendations of the Interim Evaluation concerning the speed of contracting, measures of achievement and forms of contracting are areas with continuing relevance in the 2002 and 2003 MBP and are revisited in the conclusions and recommendations of this Evaluation.

questions. The ToR also include the methodology for this evaluation, whilst the evaluation indicators are shown in Annex 2.

⁵ See Annex 1.

2. PERFORMANCE OF PHARE ASSISTANCE

11. This Chapter examines the overall performance of the 1999-2003 Phare Statistics MBPS, with special focus on the 2002-2003 MBPS, which were not covered by the EMS Consortium in 2003. It considers needs assessment and design, inputs, results, impact and sustainability. This review is set against the evaluation questions specified in Annex 1 and the indicators given in Annex 2.

2.1 The statistics MBPs were relevant and well-designed

12. *The Statistics MBPs are consistent with the pre-accession strategy*. The Phare programme has supported changes to the statistical services of the central and eastern European countries since 1991, when very substantial development was required to bring these countries into line with best international and EU practice. They are intended to give effect in the statistical area to changes in concepts, methodologies and coverage of statistics. Despite significant achievements, a good deal of work remained to be done at the time of the Luxembourg Council in 1997 when Phare was given an explicit pre-accession focus. Assimilation to the statistics *acquis* continues to be an exacting challenge because of its size (350 regulations) and its growth (about 15% per annum). Attainment of the standards of the *acquis* posed significant technical problems for the former centrally planned economies.

13. The Interim Evaluation reported positively on the relevance and design of the 1999 to 2001 MBPs (ZZ-9911, ZZ-0027 and ZZ-109) and the close dialogue established between Eurostat and the NSOs has continued to ensure accurate alignment of needs and activities. The choices of activity - workshops, TA, PPs - were well-adapted to the needs of the CCs. Overall, the incorporation of results from earlier MBPs, and close monitoring of NSOs development and pre-accession negotiations has ensured continuing relevance and additionality.

14. The Phare programmes which are the main focus of this evaluation are governed by the 2000-2002 strategy⁶ (ZZ-0109 and 2002/000-602) and by the 2003-2006 strategy⁷ (2003/005-623). These strategies were drawn up on the basis of the long-established and detailed collaboration with the CC NSOs, and they have provided an accurate assessment of needs for defining the central objective of this period - bringing the CCs up the standard of the *acquis* in the statistical area. The 2003-2006 strategy also recognised the special needs of Bulgaria and Romania *vis á vis* those CCs which were to become member states in 2004. The design of the Statistics MBPs is fully consistent with these strategies; building on developments in the previous programmes. The 2002 and 2003 Statistics MBPs are targeted at assisting the NSOs to improve the flow of reliable and relevant data to key policy makers at national and EU level, and to enhance the quality of statistics.

15. The content of the 2002 and 2003 programmes took account of the views of stakeholders. During this period, a Policy Group for Statistical Co-operation (PGSC) consisting of the directors of the NSOs of the CCs and Eurostat, met once a year to make policy decisions. The Management Group for Statistical Co-operation (MGSC), comprising the heads of international relations of the NSOs, was established to deal with detailed management issues.

⁶ A Strategy for Compliance in Statistics in Candidate Countries 2000-2002, European Commission.

⁷ A Strategy for Statistical Co-operation with Acceding and Candidate Countries 2003-2006, European Commission.

16. The close collaboration between Eurostat (especially between its Technical Units (TUs)) and their opposite numbers in the NSOs has made an important contribution to relevance. This relationship is probably closer than in most other EU-supported programmes since Eurostat is itself a direct recipient of the results. Outside specific interventions, Eurostat experts are in constant contact with NSOs to resolve technical problems and ensure a common approach. Within the specific areas of intervention, in the PPs and TA activities, the relationship is more intricate and Eurostat experts are involved with most Statistics MBP activities. By formal and informal means, Eurostat is fully aware of the problems, concerns and needs of the NSOs and, through various routes, NSOs have the opportunity to express their priorities to Eurostat.

17. In the case of the TA activities, NSOs have the opportunity to discuss the detailed content with Eurostat on a bilateral basis, and have considerable autonomy to draw down the TA resources provided, in both the form and timing to suit their needs.

The components of the Statistics 18. well designed. **MBPs** were Two components of the Statistics MBPs: PPs and TA, constituted a mutually supporting structure. The PPs concentrated on specific statistical series using a group approach (i.e. all or several CC NSOs). The PP component allowed Eurostat, in consultation with the CCs, to determine priorities in line with their perception of weaknesses in the CCs and the demands of the acquis. The various elements in the TA component have been used by each CC according to its own perception of needs, in consultation with Eurostat.

Box 1: Pilot Project - Gross National Income Inventories

Under the acquis, member states have to compile their estimates of national income (GNI) under ESA95 standards. The GNI contributes to:

- National and EU macro-economic policies
- EU regional policies
- The calculation of the 'own resources' contribution to the EU budget.

GNI Inventories are catalogues of procedures and methodologies used by each country to compile national income. The Inventories were compiled by means of a 400 page questionnaire and required a considerable effort by the CC NSOs, and the Eurostat and contractors' experts.

19. *The activities have been targeted at key areas of importance for policy*. Most PPs⁸ addressed statistical indicators that are essential for the support of key polices, notably macroeconomic statistics, statistics on labour market conditions, social conditions, agricultural indicators, and environmental and regional statistics. The MBPs also show a high degree of continuity with successful past actions, which has been a strength of successive interventions.

20. Formal monitoring of PPs is carried out by Eurostat on the basis of contractors' periodic reports and mission reports by contractors' experts. In the case of grant contracts, mission reports are filed by participants. For TA activities, disbursements can now be cleared with Eurostat *ex post* (previously clearance was required in advance), and interim and final financial reports are required from the NSOs. However, in terms of operations, informal monitoring is intensive and effective because the TUs are in continuous contact with contractors and CCs, and are fully aware of the progress of the PPs and the performance of contractors.

21. The general design of the statistics MBPs has been adapted for the Statistics **Programmes funded from the 2004 and 2005 Transition Facility** for the benefit of the ten new member states, and in the MBPs 2004 and 2005 for Bulgaria and Romania. The two programmes are similar, to each other, and to the preceding MBPs in structure and types of activities. One important change in both is that a higher proportion of the funding will be

⁸ See Annex 5 for a list of pilot projects.

channelled through the NSOs, and less through contractors than before. Also, in the Transition Facility there will be an increased number of small projects, which can be tailored to small subgroups of NMS, depending on need. This will replace the general support for statistical activities in the earlier MBPs. The size of the tenders has also been reduced to encourage a better offer from contractors. These changes are helpful adaptations in accordance with the growth of capacity of the beneficiaries and the emergence of differential needs.

2.2 Some serious delays but generally efficiently managed

22. In the Interim Evaluations of the 1999-2001 Statistics MBPs, efficiency was evaluated as high. Overall co-ordination was enhanced by having a Eurostat unit in charge of its administration. At the same time, outsourcing the administrative tasks of the PPs to contractors reduced the administrative burden on Eurostat, freeing it to concentrate on technical matters. Decentralisation of disbursement for TA activities to the NSOs had had a similar effect. The evaluation found that contractors were experienced in the work, and grouping PPs into related areas (macro-economics, social statistics, etc.) and awarding contracts in lots built on this experience and proved an efficient means of harnessing external resources.

23. Alleged irregularities within Eurostat led to some disruption of the 2002 and 2003 MBPs. In the first half of 2003, allegations were made about irregularities in the contracting

process and in the management of bank accounts. This led to a slowing down in the decision-making as inquiries were conducted by the Commission Services. Heightened concern by the remaining personnel to avoid errors in contracts and payments contributed to delays. As a consequence, contracts for the PPs in the 2002 MBP were not signed until April 2004, although tendering had closed in mid-2003. This led to a condensed implementation period for the 2002 MBP, which only concluded in August 2005. This late implementation meant that objectives focusing on pre- accession, which had been important element of an the 2002 Programme, became irrelevant, as the contracts were signed one month before the

Box 2: Building a picture of job vacancies

The objective of this pilot project was to support the collection of harmonised job vacancy data in the 10 Phare beneficiary countries. As a result:

- Six beneficiary countries carried out pilot surveys;
- Three countries launched actions to improve their own sources (either existing surveys or administrative registers);
- Five countries launched regular surveys which are sent to Eurostat;
- Data for Q1 and Q2 2005 are available at Eurostat for 8 countries;
- Five countries send methodological notes on Special Data Dissemination Standard format;
- A methodology for job vacancy survey was produced.

accession of most CCs on 1 May 2004. In some areas, approval was not given for revising work programmes to take account of the delayed implementation, with the consequence that contractors' work was disrupted leading to extra costs for them in some areas, and loss of output in others.

24. The delay also meant an overlap with the 2003 Statistics MBP, which commenced at the end of 2004 and was due to finish at the end of 2005. As a result of the allegations and delays, interest among contractors diminished so that it was not possible to attract a minimum of four bidders for Lots 1-3 (macro-economics and business statistics) of the 2003 Programme. Wishing to observe the highest standards, Eurostat did not avail itself of the opportunity to award contracts through the negotiation procedure, but instead cancelled the tenders. This meant that in this key area there were no PPs in their original sense, and the benefits of common seminars / PP meetings and the services of experts were lost.

25. The problems in respect of the award of PP contracts were paralleled by delays in activities financed by the grant contracts. This meant that funding came too late for some of the planned work for 2004.

26. Some of the consequences were mitigated by extra efforts by Eurostat and NSO experts, and by Eurostat permitting some flexibility in the drawing down of grant finance. In autumn 2005, at the start of implementation of the 2004 MBP, it appears that most of these problems are working themselves out of the system and previous levels of efficiency may be attainable. Nevertheless, the appropriateness of the arrangements for acquiring external resources needs to be monitored, given the reduced role of contractors, the smaller number of countries in the statistics MBP, and the cost of the contracting process.⁹ Nevertheless, is it clear that through non-delivery of consultancy, delays and compression of activities, there was a significant loss of efficiency in this period.

27. *The programmes are generally efficiently managed at the micro level*. The particular difficulties of 2003 apart, the administration of the Statistics MBPs has been efficient at the level of the individual PP and the national grant contracts. As noted in the Interim Evaluations, the contractors employed during this period are experienced in working for Eurostat and have competent experts for the technical work with the NSOs. Communications between the experts and Eurostat and the NSOs are good, and the work of the PPs has usually proceeded smoothly.

28. Decentralisation of disbursement processes has been a positive experience. An important change in the administration of PPs has been the transfer of financial and managerial responsibility from the contractor to the CCs. Until the 2000 MPB, the contractor was responsible for the fees and costs of his own experts, the travel and per diem costs of CC personnel when attending working groups, and costs of the NSO for the implementation of projects, including e.g. survey costs.¹⁰ Since then, the responsibility has been transferred to NSOs and, in the 2003 MBP, contractors' responsibilities were reduced by the transfer of the cost of CC experts to the direct grant component of the programme, and the transfer of the management of the disbursement to the NSOs. Under the 2003 MBP, contractors are now responsible only for their own costs, while all other costs are handled by the NSOs with the support of the grant contract. This arrangement needs careful management of the timing, funds are now needed from two sources (CCs and the contractors) for activities under the same PP. On the other hand, it has encouraged the development of administration capacity in CCs, since the disbursal of funds must conform to EU standards. It has removed one of three parties to each transaction, and relieved contractors of a purely administrative task. It has also eased the entry of new contractors by reducing the nominal size of the contracts and the associated financial qualifications of potential tenderers.

29. The administration of the TA financed by the grant contract has usually worked efficiently. The Grant Agreements are detailed, but permission from Eurostat for the drawing down of finance for the budgeted items has been given speedily. Also, it is possible to amend the budget (while respecting the overall limit) via an addendum. Furthermore, since the 2003 MBP, Eurostat permission for disbursements from the agreed budget for the approved activities can be granted *ex post* which helps to speed up implementation and flexibility.

⁹ Total manpower employed by the three contractors in the 2002 MBP amounted to about 8 man-years. This compares with a total complement of 800 in Eurostat.

¹⁰ This was done in the form of a sub-contract, i.e. the delivery of survey results and reports against the payment of a lump sum to the NSO. Normally, these sub-contracts covered only part of the total costs of the surveys.

30. There is no overarching management body for the Statistics MBPs in Eurostat. The management of individual PPs is essentially a matter for the relevant Eurostat TUs. The formal and informal links described above ensure that activities are closely monitored since, for reasons already explained, Eurostat is the principal 'consumer' of Statistics MBP outputs. Eurostat Unit E4 - Statistical Co-operation with European and Mediterranean Countries - is responsible for the overall management of TA activities but, as emphasised above, CCs have a high degree of autonomy in this area. Knowledge and expertise of the TUs does ensure that the PPs are chosen to fill important needs of both the NSOs and Eurostat, but this arrangement may not be optimal for ensuring that all desirable projects are included. For that, a supervisory entity with horizontal responsibility for the Statistics MBPs would be needed. The high-level co-ordination structures which have been established (the MGSC and PGSC) have responsibilities which are too broad to focus on the detailed problems of NSOs and the *acquis*. There is a risk that the real needs of remaining CCs may be neglected given the greatly increased ratio of member states to CCs in the future (EU-15:10 CCs in the five statistics MBPs compared to EU-25:4 CCs under the 2005 Statistics MBP).

2.3 Good statistical support to key EU macro-economic policies.

31. *The 2002 and 2003 Statistics MBPs have built on the success of previous assistance.* The programmes have followed the format refined in 1999-2001 and generally have had similar success. The concepts and methodologies used by the NSOs have been improved and there has been substantial progress towards the *acquis*. The negotiating chapter on Statistics in the accession programme was closed in 2000 and there were no requests for derogations. Good progress in statistics in all CCs was noted in the Commission's 2003 Comprehensive Monitoring Reports (CMRs).

Progress has been particularly apparent in statistical areas supporting key EU policies. 32. These statistical 'areas' underpin important policies at EU level such as the management of the EU macro-economy by the European Central Bank, the framing of regional policies, and the management of the Common Agricultural Policy. Amongst the most important areas of achievement has been in the macro-economics field, including the adoption of the European System of Accounts 95 (ESA 95) methodology, and a successful project to develop a harmonised approach to Purchasing Power Parities, essential for comparisons of economic performance of member states. In the preparation of quarterly estimates of Gross National Product (GNP), there has been transition from Gross Domestic Product (GDP) to Gross National Income (GNI) and regional statistics, which depend importantly on macro-economic aggregates. There was progress in the compilation of quarterly national accounts, the transition from Gross Domestic Product (GDP) to Gross National Income (GNI) was properly calculated and documented and regional statistics were developed. In the social area, there was progress on the development of measures of conditions in the labour market (e.g. Labour Force Survey and Job Vacancies Survey). Also of significance was the introduction of Statistics on Incomes and Living Conditions (SILC), which provides cross-sectional components, and tests a number of variables, e.g. gross income. This will benefit from the application of sampling methods still unfamiliar to some NSOs.¹¹ There were also improvements in a number of agricultural and environmental statistical series, such as agriculture accounts and prices, and environmental indicators.

¹¹ Such as those using rotating panels and rolling surveys.

33. *Transfer of know-how has continued*. The close relationships between the CC NSOs and Eurostat and the involvement of independent experts provided by contractors have been essential in improving methodologies and concepts, and providing the necessary encouragement and training to enable NSO personnel to attain high standards. These means of transfer have been complemented by the TA activities, which include traineeships, attendance at Working Groups, and specifically targeted formal training.

34. The ESS is being created on the basis of a common 'statistical culture' promoted by the programmes and an important output has been the reinforcement of informal professional networks. Traineeships, whether in Eurostat or in MS, have been particularly important in creating relationships among professional statisticians which is an essential element of the ESS. This has also been reinforced by attendance at Working Groups and PP meetings and seminars.

35. Within the individual CCs, important relationships have also been built between the NSOs and organisations that are either suppliers or users of statistics, or those that function in both capacities. For example, ministries of finance and central banks supply public finance and monetary statistics while being important users of macro-economic data. Research and academic organisations are also often involved in formal and informal consultations with NSOs about methodological questions, besides being important users of NSO outputs.

36. *Standards of compliance are high*. Although there are no overall summaries of approximation to, or deviation from, the *acquis*, the indications are that many CCs have attained very high standards of compliance. Table 1 gives the results from one area for which the Eurostat Unit responsible for business statistics has compiled summary indicators. The average score for the CCs is higher than that from the member states and Estonia and Hungary have the highest standards of compliance in the entire group of 23 (Cyprus and Malta excluded). This suggests that the MBPs and also the national programmes have been effective in raising standards, although there remain isolated problems in some new member states. There are broader difficulties in Bulgaria and Romania, which are not included in Table 1, and in the latter case, a lack of resources to adhere to the Intrastat EU internal trade was noted as a particular problem in 2005 (which needs to be operational at the date of accession).

EU-15							New member states							
	STS	SBS	BR	PC	Т	Score			STS	SBS	BR	РС	Т	Score
BE	1	0	2	3	1	1.40		CZ	3	0	3	1	3	2.00
DK	2	2	3	2	2	2.20		EE	3	3	3	2	3	2.80
DE	3	1	3	3	3	2.60		LV	2	0	3	3	2	2.00
EL	0	0	2	1	0	0.60		LT	3	2	3	3	2	2.60
ES	2	2	3	2	2	2.20		HU	3	3	3	3	2	2.80
FR	3	1	3	0	2	1.80		PL	3	1	3	1	2	2.00
IE	1	1	1	0	1	0.80		SI	1	2	3	3	2	2.20
IT	2	2	3	2	2	2.20		SK	3	1	3	1	2	2.00
LU	3	0	3	2	3	2.20		New	member	states A	verage			2.30
NL	3	2	3	1	3	2.40								
AT	3	1	3	3	2	2.40		Rank	king: (3=	Very Go	ood, to	0 =No	data)	
РТ	3	3	3	1	2	2.40		STS -	= Short-te	own Ctati	ation			
FI	3	2	3	2	3	2.60						tistics		
SE	3	2	3	1	1	2.00	SBS = Structural Business Statistics BR = Business Register							
UK	1	0	3	0	2	1.20	PC = Prodcom							
EU-15	Average	9				1.93		T = T	ourism s	tatistics				

Table 1.- Ranking of business statistics - CCs are more compliant on average than member states

Source: Business Statistics Directors Meeting, Eurostat, June 2005.

2.4 Wider objectives largely achieved with high standards of statistical reporting

37. The wider objectives of the Statistics MBPs are to ensure that relevant series of reliable statistics are available to users: national and EU policy agents, academic, business, trades unions, and other civil society organisations, to enable them to make informed decisions about economic and social policies. Since 1997, one of the most important policies is the progress of preparation of the CCs towards EU membership.

38. **The MBPs have been instrumental in raising standards of CCs to the level required for** *entry*. In general, the standard of statistics produced by CCs are approaching the standard attained by existing member states. In some cases, they have been exceeded, but Bulgaria and Romania have some way to go. No country is in perfect alignment with everything in the *acquis,* given the evolution in *acquis* requirements and in the economic and social processes which have to be quantified. Nevertheless, even for the poorer performing countries, the MBPs have produced new and more accurate tools for framing national economic and social policies in CCs.

39. At the EU level, the outputs of the CC NSOs can now be incorporated with data from the older member states into reliable EU-wide indices, for example: for unemployment, economic growth, external trade, inflation and other key measures of economic and social conditions.

40. This generally positive picture is confirmed by the CMRs in the period leading up to accession in 2004. In the 2003 CMRs, it was reported that the new member states had met the commitments arising from the accession negotiations and were expected to be in a position to implement the *acquis* as from accession.¹² Bulgaria and Romania were considered to be making progress but there were a number of issues outstanding. Some of these, such as IT equipment and software, fall outside the scope of the Statistics MBPs, but others such as

¹² There was no strong criticism of the CCs in the CMRs. The CMRs rely on information supplied by Eurostat, which should know if candidate countries are up to standard and which has every incentive to report failures. Eurostat experts did not report significant and widespread failures and neither were there reports of this from users.

timeliness and methodology are within the scope of MBP interventions. Overall, these two countries were forecast to meet the *acquis* at their planned accession in 2007.

41. The quantity and quality of statistical information has improved in the respective fields of interest, according to interviews with users in ministries of finance, central banks. other ministries and research institutes confirm. However, users are conscious of ongoing deficiencies in areas such as national accounts, the social sector and regional statistics. Some of these concerns fall within the acquis, but some, such as micro regional statistics are One example of a currently excluded. problem area was provided by a recent World Bank report on Slovakia (see Box 3). This indicates that in the area of social statistics there are some problems with reliability of data arising from methodological defects. However, the standards applied by the World Bank differ from the EU requirements, and the 2003 CMR for Slovakia does not highlight social statistics as a problem area.

Box 3: Slovak Social Statistics

The Slovak Republic currently has the basic framework of surveys needed to monitor poverty and social exclusion; to evaluate the impact of economic reforms; and to deliver evidence based policymaking.

As currently administered, however, the information collected from these surveys will not provide as complete information that is needed to monitor poverty and social exclusion in the Slovak Republic. The problems with the household data can be broken down into five categories, listed below. Not all of the surveys currently implemented in the Slovak Republic suffer from problems in each category, but all have some problems.

- Questionnaire Design: complicated and difficult to fill in
- Sample Design: possible bias in selection of samples
- Field Work: insufficient training and supervision of field workers
- *Response Rate: very low in some surveys*
- Comparability Over Time: changes in samples or questionnaires prevent comparability over time.
- Extract from 'Quest for Equitable Growth in Slovak

2.5 Sustainability remains a problem

42. The sustainability of results obtained by the MBPs depends on a variety of factors, including the stability of employment within NSOs, the extent to which knowledge and experience during the MBPs has been institutionalised, and the prospects for future funding. The Interim Evaluation considered that using the MBPs, the NSOs had achieved a high degree of sustainability in respect of the stock of experience and knowledge acquired by the experts. The network of professional relationships developed between CC and member state experts through Eurostat Working Groups was also a contribution towards sustainability. In respect of financial sustainability, however, the Interim Evaluation was less confident because of limited resources in CCs and relatively heavy demands imposed by the *acquis*.

43. Loss of experienced personnel is a problem for some NSOs. NSO personnel, especially those who have been involved in the MBPs, are highly educated, motivated and have been able to expand their language skills. For the less developed CCs, salaries, even with some prospect of uplift for those dealing with EU programmes such as the MBP, are well below levels prevailing in the private sector, and movement of personnel is a constant drain on NSO resources. Attempts to control the movement of trained personnel through contracts are unlikely to prove effective. For macro-economics specialists, there are expanding opportunities in other parts of the public sector (specifically the ministry of finance and the central bank) in all countries, and in the private banking and consulting sector. For the more developed CCs, the problem of staff turnover is more manageable. Size also is a factor, with smaller countries suffering disproportionately if key specialists leave.

44. *Institutional memory is likely to be sustainable in information systems and procedures.* In terms of institutionalisation of knowledge and experience, the situation is positive. It is possible that not enough is currently done to disseminate the experience of the MBPs from those directly involved to others through in-house training, but the importance of this can be over-estimated. Statistical administration is highly formalised. The procedures for compiling a given statistical series are set out in computer programmes and in procedures which are systematically documented. The codification of procedures is a major part of the process of the PPs. To a large extent, the permanent records of the projects can survive the departure of key personnel, leaving a manageable training problem for their successors.

45. *There could be a financial threat to sustainability in a few countries.* The third aspect of sustainability is the ability of the CCs to continue to finance their statistical programmes without supportive financing from Phare and the Transition Facility. Even though the new member states receive funding from Eurostat in the same way as the old member states, and even though the member states are legally required to provide a lot of data to Eurostat in accordance with the *acquis*, there are a few cases where there could be a risk to the proper national funding of statistical programmes.

46. Table 2 shows Phare contributions to NSOs under the national programmes and the statistics MBPs.¹³ The table shows considerable variation in the relative importance of the national programme and the MBPs in the sample of countries, and also in the relationship between total Phare and national outlays on NSOs. The large variations in the relative importance of the national programmes is attributable to the 'lumpy' nature of the national programme outlays – itself a consequence of the infrastructural character of the national programme investments in the individual countries. Most NSOs are significantly dependent on Phare and the sudden disappearance of this support would pose problems.

47. It is possible for NSOs to mitigate the problems by imposing some of the burden of statistical collection on line ministries (health, industry, etc), by selling services, general productivity improvement and by receiving financial support from the Commission in the same way as the EU-15. However, such measures take time to implement, especially for entities which have to struggle to absorb the *acquis* and which are operating in economies with a lower level of development than the member states. Also, in these circumstances, it is not advisable to restrict the circulation of statistics because the development of statistics has an acknowledged role in fostering democratic debate.

48. The impacts of the statistical element of the Phare national programmes and those of the statistics MBPs are distinct. The statistical elements of the national programmes have concentrated on investments in infrastructure, equipment and general training for the NSOs – in accordance with the particular needs of the individual CCs. The focus of the statistics MBPs are mainly on the implementation of the *acquis* in specific priority areas. The investments in infrastructure constitute a pre-condition for the sustained improvement of the NSOs but the pilot projects and grant activities of the MBPs are essential for the implementation of specific topics of the *acquis*.

¹³ The multi country element of the pilot projects is excluded because of the impossibility of assigning outlays to individual countries - this means an element of underestimate of the importance of Phare for the NSOs.

	Phare National Programme (average 2000 2004)	Phare MBP 2002 Grants	Phare MBP 2002 Pilot Projects	Total EU Phare	National Programme as percent of Phare Total	National Budget 2004	Phare as Percent National Budget
Bulgaria	0.814	0.426	0.259	1.499	54.3	8.3	18.1
Estonia	0.198	0.447	0.159	0.8	24.8	3.9	20.5
Slovakia	1.325	0.335	0.25	1.91	69.4	14	13.6
Romania	2.875	0.45	0.236	3.561	80.7	15.4	23.1
Hungary	0.283	0.407	0.139	0.829	34.1	13.35	6.2
Poland	3.5	0.45	0.21	4.16	84.1	65.694	6.3

Table 2.- NSO Receipts from Phare and National Budget in selected CCs

National Programme annual figures are averaged because of large swings from year to year. MBP 2002 is selected for comparison with National Budget figures because payments were mainly disbursed in 2004

3. THEMATIC/ CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS

49. Having examined overall performance of the Statistics MBPs in Chapter 2, Chapter 3 reviews progress made with the support of Phare towards three key thematic areas of the preaccession strategy:

- Phare's contribution to the improved performance of NSOs,
- Strengthening administrative capacity of NSOs to apply the *acquis*, and
- The effectiveness and efficiency of the MBPs as a delivery mechanism.

50. Good statistical data underpins the success of many EU policies and actions. The Phare contribution through Eurostat has made a significant contribution to the performance of CC NSOs. At the time of accession in May 2004, eight beneficiaries had NSOs providing statistical services as competently as existing member states. A key aspect of the rapid changes was the financial support from the Phare programme which allowed Eurostat to take and maintain this initiative. NSOs' administrative capacity has increased, primarily through Phare national programmes, but an important professional and networking contribution has been made through the MBPs. Joint involvement in PPs with national ministries and agencies has increased the understanding of the need for quality statistical systems and data. The MBP approach has been essential for the rapid assimilation of national data into the ESS; the availability of Phare funding has provided leverage for Eurostat to determine the most efficient way forward and to pursue this through a well-designed MBPs.

3.1 Performance of NSOs significantly improved

51. *The components of the Statistics MBPs focused on improving performance* of the NSOs, in both delivering specific statistical series and in general statistical performance. The PPs have enabled the NSOs to improve their concepts and methodologies in high priority areas and also helped them to put them into practice through test surveys in the field.

52. Examples of this process in practice are the Statistics on Income and Living Conditions

(SILC) (see Box 4) and the Quality in Regional Statistics project which uses data from national accounts (Gross Valued Added - GVA) and population census data to yield regional GVA per capita. This work is of particular importance because of the light it throws on regional disparities, which are an essential element in the design of regional policies. The impact of the PPs on performance was complemented and augmented by the TA under the grant component which provided a range of tools (training, consultancy and participation in Eurostat Working Groups) from which NSOs could choose depending on their perception of their weaknesses.

Box 4: Survey of Income and Living Conditions The SILC is a complex survey that requires samples to be followed for a period of years in order to yield time series data. This is in contrast to most surveys of standards of living, which rely on a series of 'snapshots' of socio-economic strata using different samples each time. The informational yield from a SILC is potentially very large but it requires several years before significant results are obtained and, in the meantime, it is difficult to keep track of the sampling units. However, with the aid of the Pilot *Project, the difficulties in designing and implementing* this survey were surmounted. Without the Pilot Project it is unlikely that CC NSOs, with limited resources and no experience of this type of sampling, would have been able to deliver reliable results.

53. Phare support through the Statistics MBPs has made a material difference to the competence of CC NSOs. The process, with Eurostat leadership, has brought good compliance with *acquis* requirements for new member states and continues to make headway with the next accession group, although significant challenges remain. Self-assessment of performance and

needs (with expert guidance) has been a useful monitor of NSO performance. Networking between NSOs (member states and accession countries) and their professional staff has been a feature of the assistance, and provides the basis for continuing co-operation in EU statistical developments. Meeting NSO needs through participation in Pilot Projects, with TA support, has been very successful in improving the performance of NSOs.

3.2 The administrative capacity of NSOs has been strengthened by Phare.

54. The administrative capacity of NSOs has been improved through experience of working in the MBPs. Although Phare national programmes have played the leading part in expanding the administrative capacities of NSOs, in the form of IT equipment, software, networks, libraries and related training, there has been a limited direct contribution of the MBPs to building local administrative capacity. A number of specific actions have had a positive effect on capacity of the NSOs to implement the *acquis*. Participation in the PPs, and direct involvement in the management of the work of independent experts within the context of the EU contracting framework, has raised NSOs' capacity to administer large-scale and complex statistical exercises, in compliance with EU standards. It has also improved their understanding of the efficient use of consultants to achieve contract objectives.

55. Traineeships have provided participants with experience of working in the administration at Eurostat or in member states NSOs. Trainees usually are assigned to a particular division of statistics, and get experience of statistical administration. They also build relationships which enhance the capacity and outreach of the NSOs to which they return. Activities financed by the grants have included several useful contributions to administrative capacity building. Training and participation in Eurostat Working Groups, participation in the work of Eurostat has helped improve all aspects of management at the NSOs.

56. The supervised transfer of financial management functions from the Pilot Project contractors to the NSOs, and the increase in autonomy in the management of their grant has significantly increased NSO experience of working within the Eurostat budgetary process and administrative system.

57. *There are no significant administrative and judicial issues remaining in the statistics area.* As regards horizontal administrative and judicial capacity issues, all NSOs have adopted legislation consistent with EU principles concerning independence, transparency, access and confidentiality. In the statistics area, the *acquis* is not generally transposed by Directives but is directly applicable through regulations, although the design and use of data sources is left to the competence of the country, and there is some implementation outside the *acquis* through 'gentlemen's agreements' within the administration. Administrative and judicial capacity issues do not appear to arise in the statistics field.

3.3 The MBP approach was effective and essential

58. An MBP approach is essential for statistics. The key objective of Phare assistance to the statistics function in CCs is to contribute to the ESS that produces the outputs required by the *acquis*. The ESS has network characteristics, and to produce usable statistics, each participant has to contribute according to the required standard. Therefore, the failure of any one contributor weakens the whole enterprise. A carefully managed and monitored multibeneficiary approach, in which assistance is delivered to a number of countries under the detailed direction of Eurostat, is the practical and professional choice. Without this central control, individual countries, following their own priorities, may have produced a series of

statistics of uneven quality, under different timescales, and of limited comparability. Under the Statistics MBPs, the choice of Pilot Projects was (and is) largely determined by Eurostat, although the views of the CCs are sought. The projects are implemented in a common decision-making process, in which, with the aid of independent and Eurostat experts, the CCs collectively adopt the concepts and methodologies prescribed by the *acquis* and importantly, the type of support is decided following a joint assessment of need.

59. Through Eurostat's method of working, particularly the use of PPs, the multi-beneficiary approach also gives rise to significant benefits in terms of creating professional relationships, exchange of experience, and information dissemination.

60. For the grant financed TA, the degree of discretion given to NSOs is much greater than for PPs, and the multi-beneficiary aspect is less significant, but disbursement of the grant funds by Eurostat follows consultation with individual CCs. Many of the activities deliver benefits which are appropriate to capacity development in NSOs (e.g. traineeships), but where activities are related to the development of the *acquis* (e.g. data collection activities), Eurostat has ensured that they contribute to a common implementation of *acquis* requirements.

61. *Eurostat's influence has secured the complementarity and coherence of MBPs and national Phare assistance*. Eurostat maintains considerable influence over the selection of activities for funding from the national programmes and this is has been an important contribution to the effectiveness of the MBPs.

62. The alternative approach of providing assistance only through ten national programmes would not be practical in the case of the PPs and the grant financed TA. Theoretically, the grant activities could be assigned to Phare national programmes, especially those activities which have general benefits, but there would be significant costs in trying to ensure that grant activities specifically related to PPs were delivered on time and in a complementary manner. There is no possibility that the PPs could be delivered through national programmes.

63. In addition to the benefits of co-ordination, the multi-beneficiary approach gives rise to demonstrable economies in terms of programme preparation, management and implementation.

4. CONCLUSIONS AND LESSONS LEARNED

4.1 Conclusions

64. *The overall performance of Phare MBPs has been successful in supporting the development of statistics* required by the *acquis* and NSO capacity. The design of the Statistics MBPs has reflected the pre-accession strategy and taken into account the views and needs of the NSOs. Although the activities have been targeted at key areas of importance for policy, Eurostat operates without a top-level management body to balance resources against needs. Efficiency has historically been good but contracting activities under the 2002 and 2003 MBPs were severely delayed following an investigation into alleged fraud by the Commission Services. Decentralisation of the disbursement process has led to more direct control over contracts and to the development of local capacity.¹⁴ The MBPs have been instrumental in raising statistical standards to the level required for accession. Although sustainability is to some extent guaranteed by the adoption of statistical systems, the continuation of external financial support may be required in the medium term.

65. *The Statistics MBP approach has proven to be durable and effective in achieving its immediate and wider objectives*, despite problems affecting the contracting process of the 2002 and 2003 MBPs. New statistical series have been introduced to CC NSOs, standards have been raised and adapted to EU and international use, survey techniques have been improved and new concepts, in keeping with the needs of market oriented economy and a democratic society, have been introduced. A wide range of domestic and international users have benefited from this development, including organisations like the Central Banks and ministries, who as well as being providers are important users of statistics. Joint working on statistical series has allowed them to share in the wider benefits of the Statistics MBPs. Others in the academic sector and the media now have new tools with which to exercise their professions of informing the public and contributing to public debate.

66. The overriding test of the success of the MBPs has been that the statistics chapters of the Accession Programme for the eight new member states were closed in 2000 without derogations and the CCs duly entered the EU in 2004. In the case of Bulgaria and Romania, it was judged that their statistical chapters were in line to attain entry standards by the projected date of entry in January 2007.

67. *The MBP approach has been proved to be essential for the efficient building of the ESS*. It has helped build lateral networks of professionals across the NSOs as well as vertical ones with Eurostat TUs. But its key importance was ensuring that the priority needs for the statistical developments for the *acquis* were identified and that CC NSOs adopted standardised approaches which would guarantee reliable and comparable statistics at national and EU level. At the same time, flexibility in the use of the MBP approach has also met NSOs' perceptions of their own needs. In addition, the grant financed activities, although administered by Eurostat, has provided significant resources in a flexible manner with an important degree of initiative assigned to the NSOs.

68. The gains made by the CCs in improving their statistical standards are likely to prove durable in that much of the output of the MBPs is fixed in documented systems and

¹⁴ In this context 'decentralisation' refers to the transfer of responsibility for programme expenditures from Eurostat and/or the contractors to the NSOs of the ten CCs.

procedures, and in most countries personnel turnover problems are manageable. The main challenge to sustained improvements is likely to be financing further developments in statistical methodology, to meet the forecast growth in EU statistical requirements. This is important because in the past, forecasts of financial support for the MBPs have underestimated the impact of development. A sudden withdrawal of external assistance at the current state of development of beneficiary NSOs could undermine the substantial achievements to date.

4.2 Recommendations

69. Most of the participants in the Statistical MBPs became member states in May 2004 and the two remaining CCs (Bulgaria and Romania) were joined by Croatia and Turkey as beneficiaries of the MBPs. Adapting this group's statistical systems to the *acquis* will be a considerable challenge for Eurostat's management. It is also possible that other western Balkan countries may also become involved at some point in the future, and consequently, the Statistics MBP is likely to be a continuing programme with a significant role in the future. A number of recommendations for active programmes and lessons learned for the future have been identified. These lessons could also have application to the Transition Facility funding for the new member states, which continues elements of the MBP approach.

Recommendation 1: The role of external consultants in the management and implementation of pilot projects should be reviewed and alternative means of acquiring the necessary resources should be considered.

70. Although the volume of assistance given by external contracts is relatively small (especially now that the role of contractors is reduced to the supply of expertise), and although Eurostat does not have the necessary human resources to take over the work done by the contractors in the various MBP projects, nonetheless, alternatives to the present arrangements should be explored, in particular direct provision of management and technical expertise from Eurostat where this is feasible and the use of direct grants to the NSOs.¹⁵

Recommendation 2: The overall progress monitoring system should be revised so as to yield readily accessible management information.

71. There is a need for a formal annual review of the performance of each beneficiary even if this cannot be expressed in a compliance percentage. Monitoring was provided by independent consultants during some of the earlier MBPs, but these have now ceased. The updating of the Compliance Database is not entirely coherent, which makes it difficult to make comparisons between countries. It is difficult to form a judgement of the status of a particular country from the Compliance Database because of its size (about 120 pages per country) and the absence of a succinct measure of the status of each series although this might be possible for experienced statisticians. However, to make this assessment easier the annual country Global Assessments could be restored for CCs. This would provide a more unambiguous and externally compiled basis for the CMRs.

¹⁵ See: Study, feasibility and cost effectiveness assessment of the externalisation of the implementation of TAIEX. Technopolis. February 2005.

4.3 Lessons Learned

Lesson 1: The multi-beneficiary approach is essential for development of a common statistical framework.

72. Given that the objective is the development of a system of comparable statistics, and related to international norms, the assistance has to be managed on a multi-beneficiary basis, or at least by a strong co-ordination mechanism which would deliver the same control.

Lesson 2: The combination of the pilot projects and technical assistance has proved to be an effective method of delivering the MBP approach.

73. The strength of the Statistical MBPs lies in the selection of important statistical series (e.g. national accounts, poverty measures, regional statistics), co-ordination of the work of the participants, arranging intensive inputs by experts and close contact with the relevant Eurostat TU. Elements of the TA budgets are used in flexible way, with close involvement by the CC, to support the work done under the Pilot Projects.

Lesson 3: The ranges of attainment by beneficiaries in various statistical areas imply that the concept that all countries should participate in all activities should be reviewed.

74. Some CCs have proved better than others in adapting to the needs of the *acquis*. Consequently, there should be more selectivity in countries that participate in particular PPs. The marginal cost to the MBP of an additional participant in a PP is significantly less than the average cost, but it is not negligible given that there are bilateral as well as horizontal exchanges, and laggard countries could use extra assistance. Participation in a PP also represents a significant cost to the NSOs.

[

ANNEXES

Annex 1. Terms of Reference

[These terms of reference were approved 26 August 2005, and have not been updated to take account of changes in the time line, which have occurred in the meantime.]

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this evaluation is to assess the contribution of the Statistics Multi-Beneficiary Programme (Statistics MBP) to improvements in the performance of National Statistics Offices (NSO) in the candidate countries (CC) relating to the production and dissemination of statistics in key areas (comparable with EU standards), transfer of know-how and integration into the European Statistical System (ESS) and its planning structures.

The results of the evaluation of Statistical MBP will provide a sample contribution to a consolidated evaluation of Phare multi-beneficiary programmes. In turn this will form part of a consolidated *ex-post* evaluation of the Phare programme.

BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

Since 1997, the objectives of statistical co-operation programmes have reflected the need to a) assist the CC in adopting the statistical *acquis* and b) in producing good quality statistics to support the accession process. The Statistics MBPs have therefore focussed on:

- Strengthening CC NSO ability to meet their customers needs and;
- Improving the provision of good quality statistics to policy and decision-makers in the context of pre-accession.

During the period covered by the present evaluation (1996-2003) this assistance was provided by five MBPs (ZZ-9716, ZZ-9813, ZZ-9911, ZZ-0027 AND ZZ-0109) with a total value of 47 M \in . Programmes 2002/000-602 and 2003/005-623, totalling 21 M \in , have also been completed (2002 Programme) or are under implementation (2003 Programme) and will be included in the evaluation. Phare assistance was also provided under national programmes. This evaluation as part of a sample of MBPs will not be an in-depth study and will comprise a desk study of previous evaluations for the programmes 1996-2001 (based on the available reports) with the focus being on the later 2002-2003 programmes.

The Statistics MBP was the subject of an Interim Evaluation (IE) during 2003¹⁶. The evaluation concluded that the 1999, 2000 and 2001 programmes were achieving their immediate objectives of institution building for the provision of appropriate statistics in general and in the pre-accession context in particular. Furthermore, the programme had facilitated the setting up of a network of statistics professionals, at the individual level and between institutions, which was essential for the production of comparable statistics. Issues arising in the IE report were:

- Difficulties in the implementation of large-scale sectoral projects with a data collection component;
- Absence of a monitoring document within EUROSTAT giving an overview of all the running projects;

¹⁶ See Interim Evaluation Report ZZ/STA/03.072, issued on 29 October 2003, covering Programmes ZZ-9911, ZZ-0027 and ZZ-0109.

- Constraints imposed by the limited number of good experts in highly specialised topics;
- The poor quality of some of the data collected;
- Weak institutional memory and limited financial means in a number of CC NSO.

EVALUATION QUESTIONS

This evaluation will focus mainly on the outputs produced by the Statistics MBP, such as methodologies, statistical products and organisational strengthening through know-how transfer activities. It will assess the impact and sustainability of these outputs and the effectiveness and efficiency of the MBP contribution to the performance of NSO in beneficiary countries, taking into account EU standards as benchmarks where relevant.

The evaluation questions and related judgmental criteria for this exercise will be divided into:

- Performance evaluation questions;
- Thematic/cross-cutting questions.

Performance evaluation questions

Needs assessment and design

The evaluation will start with an assessment of the relevance and design of the programmes. In particular, attention will be paid to the strategy and the involvement of the stakeholders in the design (ownership). To meet decision-making needs, the evaluation will focus on reviewing the design of 2004-2005 allocations.

The extent to which inputs / activities have produced outputs

The evaluation will assess the efficiency of the assistance delivered through funding of pilot projects, know-how transfer activities, the training of NSO officials and integration of NSO into the ESS with the focus on the 2002 and 2003 allocations.

The extent to which outputs have produced intended results

The intended results (as set out in the project fiches) are:

- a)Production of statistics in certain key areas conforming with EU standards for statistics, including the publication and dissemination of these statistics;
- b) Transfer of know-how concerning all EU requirements in statistics, and increase the breadth of coverage of EUROSTAT regular databases. This requires close monitoring of the development of the expanding EU statistical system and;
- c)Increased level of integration into the ESS and its planning structures¹⁷.

In this regard the evaluation will assess the extent to which outputs have produced intended results with the focus on the 2002 and 2003 allocations.

¹⁷ This became an intended result as for the 2001 and later programmes.

The extent to which the results / impacts contributed to achieving wider objectives

The overall objectives of the Statistics MBP are to ensure sustainable development of NSO capacity to provide appropriate and high quality statistics to their customers, as well as to improve the quality of existing statistics and to facilitate the integration into the ESS. In this regard the evaluation will assess the extent to which results / impacts have contributed to achieving the wider objectives.

Long-term viability of institutional reforms following the withdrawal of Phare support

The evaluation will examine the administrative and operational sustainability of the outputs relating to the performance of NSOs. For trained staff, sustainability indicators may include staff turnover and/or how the transfer of acquired knowledge is organised within the NSOs. The extent to which the NSOs have internalised the production of required statistical data and whether the NSO administration has made the necessary provisions to continue the data production after the end of the projects/programmes will also be assessed.

Thematic/cross-cutting questions

The extent to which Phare support improved the performance of NSO

The purpose of this question is to assess whether Phare support in practice addressed the *ex post* needs of the statistics sector. Thus the evaluation would seek to assess whether the original objectives (*ex ante* needs) of the programme were appropriately set. This assessment would augment the analysis based on the five performance evaluation criteria.

The CMRs dealing with the sections on statistics provide for an indication of the *ex-post* needs of the beneficiaries. For example, this includes the need for upgrading methodology, improving quality and completeness of data, and adequacy and development of human resources.

The extent to which Phare assistance strengthened the administrative capacity of NSOs

The examination of the administrative capacity of NSOs will fall into two parts:

- <u>acquis-specific administrative capacity issues</u>, where the nature of the *acquis* component concerned explicitly demands, often in some detail, a particular capacity of administrative performance, and
- <u>horizontal administrative and judicial capacity issues</u>, which are non-sector-specific but are needed to meet the requirements of the first Copenhagen criterion the "Political Criteria

While countries are essentially meeting the requirements of statistics *acquis*, related management and planning or increasing and promoting the use of statistics has not been adequately addressed.

Effectiveness and efficiency of the MBPs as a delivery mechanism

Clearly there are inherent strengths and weaknesses with centralised MBPs. In accordance with the MBP selection criteria of the Phare 2000-2006 guidance, positive factors include

economies of scale in the design and implementation (the need to promote regional cooperation or the need for certain types of delivery mechanisms) as well as scope for more effective cross-fertilisation. Negative factors may include the lack of ownership of centralised programmes as well as the risks associated with a "one size fits all" approach.

The strength of MBP as a delivery mechanism for statistics is apparent, since it has allowed for the production and transmission of comparable and timely data.

METHODOLOGY

Since the programmes in the 1996-2001 period have been comprehensively evaluated, the main focus of the present evaluation will be on the programmes in the 2002-2003 period. The 1996-2001 programmes will be included for reasons of accountability and that work will take the form of a brief desk review.

The evaluation of the 2002-2003 programmes will involve interviews in Brussels, Luxembourg and selected field work. The evaluation will use a sampling approach based on geographical focus, which will cover four new EU member states (Poland, Hungary, Estonia and Slovakia), and the two remaining candidates among the beneficiary countries (Bulgaria and Romania). The selection of countries will be proposed for discussion and agreement at the start of the evaluation. Known successes and failures will be examined. Since the Statistics MBPs are managed by EUROSTAT, that organisation will be a prime source of information.

To support the evaluation questions a set of judgement criteria and evaluation indicators will be developed, where relevant. These may be both quantitative and/or qualitative. A preliminary set of evaluation indicators will be proposed at the start of the evaluation with the aim of ensuring that requests for information are understood in context.

There will be close consultation with stakeholders (either by electronic mail or by meetings, where appropriate) to ensure a common understanding of the evaluation criteria and related indicators. Stakeholders will be invited to join a virtual steering group.

TARGET AUDIENCE

The main users of the evaluation will be the ELARG directorate responsible for MBPs, EUROSTAT, EC Delegations/Representations, National Aid Co-ordinators and NSOs in beneficiary countries. In addition, country teams for the Western Balkans and Turkey will be important users of the evaluation results.

ACTIVITIES, RESOURCES AND TIMETABLE

The Statistics Programme evaluation will be conducted in a number of stages as follows:

Step	Activity		2005							
		Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov			
1	Preparation									
2	Info gathering and processing									
3	Drafting of report for E4									
4	Comments from E4									
5	Drafting of final Statistics MBP report and submission to the consolidated MBP Report									
6	Submission for consolidated report									

The evaluation will be carried out be a team consisting of the deputy project director, a key expert, other senior and junior experts, and short-term technical specialists (SSTS), both international and local. Since the statistics exercise is designed as part of a sample of MBPs and not as an in-depth evaluation, the total resource envelope available for this exercise is limited to 51 man-days.

	Primary Sources of Evidence for Statistics MBP – Performance	Evaluation Q	uestions			
	$\bullet \bullet \bullet = dominant source of information for related question$	Desk Review	Questionnaire	Analysis	Interview	NS
	•• = complementary • = contributory				Brussels/Lux	CCs
1	Needs assessment and design					
1.1	How were needs defined	•••			••	
1.2	Were stakeholders involved in the process of needs identification and strategy design				••	•••
1.3	Were the proposed actions consistent with the needs and objectives	•••			•	••
1.4	In what way/to what extent were lessons learned incorporated in the needs assessment and design process	•••			••	••
1.5	Were the objectives, expected outputs, methodology and the timelines well defined and followed	•••			••	••
1.6	Were the proposed action adequate to achieve the objectives	•••			••	••
2	Extent to which inputs/activities produced outputs					
2.1	Were activities completed on time and within budget	•••				
2.2	Were outputs as expected, up to standard and on time.					
2.3	Did quantity of resources consumed seem reasonable having regard to results.			•••		
2.4	Quality of project monitoring: feedback and validation procedures in place and used				•••	
3	Extent to which outputs have produced intended results					
3.1	Availability of comparable statistics in specific /key target areas				•••	
3.2	Improvements in timeliness of statistics	•			••	•••
3.3	Improvements in methodology in the targeted areas	•			••	•••
3.4	Improvements in coverage, detail and reliability of statistics	•			••	•••
3.5	Compliance or progress to compliance with the <i>acquis communautaire</i> in each area	•••				
3.6	Do users have adequate access to statistics (hard copies, internet,)				••	•••
3.7	Have there been increases in demand for and use of statistics by users				••	•••
3.8	Strengthening of NSOs				••	•••
3.9	Increase level of integration of NSOs in ESS	••		••	••	••
3.10	Are there any unintended effects either positive or negative					
4	Extent to which the results contributed to the wider objectives					
4.1	Impact of statistics on national economic debate/planning/policy making				••	•••
4.2	Use of statistics in accession process by CCs and EU.				••	••
4.3	Response of business/public/academia to improvements in statistics					•••
5	Long term viability of institutional reforms following the withdrawal of Phare support					
5.1	Availability of resources from the treasury			••	••	•••
5.2	Supplementary financial resources				••	•••
5.3	Availability /retention of qualified staff			••	••	•••
5.4	Recruitment, training, promotion of personnel			••	••	•••
5.5	Ability to participate in training, conferences, international exchanges, etc					
5.6	Participation of stakeholders in policy making in the NSO			••	••	•••
5.7	Perception of role and status of NSO by central government and treasury ministry			••	••	•••

Annex 2. Evaluation Questions, Criteria and Indicators

Evaluation Indicators	Discrete	Relative	Quali-
Needs assessment and design			
How were needs defined		Χ	
Were stakeholders involved in the process of needs identification and strategy design	X		
Were the proposed actions consistent with the needs and objectives		Χ	Χ
In what way/to what extent were lessons learned incorporated in the needs assessment and design process		Χ	Χ
Quality of project preparation (objectives, expected outputs, methodology and the timelines) and were they followed		Χ	Χ
Were the proposed action adequate to achieve the objectives		Χ	X
How relevant now are results and objectives		Χ	X
Extent to which inputs/activities produced outputs			
Were activities completed on time and within budget	X		
Were outputs as expected, up to standard and on time.		Χ	
Did quantity of resources consumed seem reasonable having regard to results.		Χ	
Quality of project monitoring: feedback and validation procedures in place and used for action.		Χ	X
Extent to which outputs have produced intended results			
Availability of comparable statistics in specific /key target areas (to be defined in consultation with Eurostat)		Χ	
Improvements in timeliness of statistics		Χ	
Improvements in methodology in the targeted areas		Χ	
Improvements in coverage, detail and reliability of statistics		Χ	
Compliance or progress to compliance with the acquis communautaire in each area		Χ	Χ
Do users have adequate access to statistics (hard copies, internet,)		Χ	
Have there been increases in demand for and use of statistics by users		Χ	
Strengthening of NSOs		Χ	X
Increase level of integration of NSOs in ESS		Χ	X
Are there any unintended effects either positive or negative			X
Extent to which the results contributed to the wider objectives			
Impact of statistics on national economic debate/planning/policy making			X
Use of statistics in accession process by CCs and EU.			X
Response of business/public/academia to improvements in statistics			X
Long term viability of institutional reforms following the withdrawal of Phare support			
Availability of resources from the treasury		Χ	
Supplementary financial resources		Χ	
Availability /retention of qualified staff		Χ	
Recruitment, training, promotion of personnel		Χ	
		\$7	1

Х

Х

Х

Χ

Annex 3. Background to the Statistics MBPs

The importance of statistics, and their role in the management of EU and national policies, has been set out in the EU strategies on statistical co-operation¹⁸. Statistical information which is timely, relevant and accurate provides the essential means for democratic societies to transparently diagnose socio-economic problems, formulate objectives and measure progress towards the objectives. This applies at member state (MS) and EU levels, although in the latter case, policies have wider application and the requirement for statistics to be prepared on a harmonised basis is more significant than at MS level. In the specific case of the candidate countries (CCs), statistics are an important element in the enlargement process through their role in measuring social and economic progress towards EU norms and, following membership, in providing means to assess the consequences of enlargement.

Summary financial information on five MBPs included in this evaluation is given the tables below. In total M \in 51.39 million was allocated to the five programmes between 1999 and 2003. Of this, M \in 29.6 million was allocated to PPs and M \in 21.8 million to Multi Sectoral Activities (TA).

Statistics MBPs 1999-2003								
Programme	Start date	Expiry date	Amount	Committed	Disbursed	Status		
number		(contracting)	(M€)	%	%			
ZZ-9911	01/12/99	31/10/01	15.00	99	93	Finished		
ZZ-0027	20/11/00	31/10/02	8.00	100	92	Finished		
ZZ-0109	25/10/01	31/10/03	7.39	100	82	Finished		
2002/000-602	24/10/02	31/10/04	9.00	100	63	Finished		
2003/005-623	31/10/03	31/12/04	12.00	74	40	On going		
Total			51.39					

Pilot Projects and Multi Sectoral Activities in Statistics MBPs 1999-2003 (M€)								
Programme number	Pilot Projects	Multi Sectoral	Total	National				
ZZ-9911	8.9	6.1	15.0	12.2				
ZZ-0027	4.0	4.0	8.0	17.5				
ZZ-0109	3.4	4.0	7.4	7.8				
2002/000-602	5.0	4.0	9.0	8.3				
2003/005-623	8.3	3.7	12.0	15.4				
Total	29.6	21.8	51.4	61.2				

The prospect of membership of the EU for many of the CEECs changed the approach to this modernisation process and from 1997 onwards the Phare national and MBP programmes became accession oriented. After 1999, the objectives of the co-operation programme were laid out in the three-year strategic document: 'Strategy for Compliance in Statistics in Candidate Countries 2000-2002'. This was succeeded in 2003 by a strategy for the period 2003-2006: 'Strategy for Statistical Co-operation With Acceding and Candidate Countries 2003-2006'. In the period under review, MBPs have had three components:

1 *Pilot or sectoral projects.* Each MBP contained between 20 and 30 pilot projects. Each of these was focused on a particular statistical series. The object was to improve the standard of the series in each CC to that required by the *acquis.* The activity consisted of exchanges, discussions and consultations between the NSOs and one or more experts

¹⁸ Strategy for Compliance in Statistics in Candidate Countries, 2000-2002. European Commission, Spring 2000. Strategy for Statistical Cooperation with Acceding and Candidate Countries, 2003-2006. European Commission, June 2004.

supplied by a contractor, supported by Eurostat experts. Typically, projects started with a workshop comprising exerts from CC NSOs and the contractor. Afterwards, the CCs continued the work supported by visits from the contractors' experts, and email exchanges with these experts and Eurostat experts. The projects usually concluded with a wrap-up workshop composed similarly to the first.

2 *Multi sectoral activities.* These comprise a wide range of activities including sending trainees to Eurostat or member state NSOs, tailor-made programmes which consist of study visits and the services of consultants; data collection projects by which Eurostat finances the costs of surveys, participation in Eurostat Working Groups and formal training. The precise package of activities chosen is agreed by each member state with Eurostat, based upon a common agreement about the problems specific to the NSO.

3 *Programme secretariat and monitoring activities* which consist of the maintenance of a compliance database, management of global assessments, dissemination of programme information and support to management meetings of the CCs NSOs.

The distribution of MBPs between Pilot Projects and Technical Assistance is shown in the following table.

Year	Pilot Projects €M	Technical Assistance €M	Total €M
1999	8.900	6.100	15.0
2000	4.000	4.000	8.0
2001	3.400	4.000	7.4
2002	5.000	4.000	9.0
2003	8.300	3.700	12.0
2004	2.150	0.850	3.0
2005	4.115	1.635	5.75
Total	35.865	24.285	60.15
Transition 2004	9.000		9.0

At the outset of the period under review, pilot projects were awarded to contractors by competitive tender. The contractors were then responsible for hiring experts and funding the expenses of the experts, the costs of NSO experts attending meetings and in-country data collection (where relevant). Since 2003, contractors' responsibilities have been confined to the hiring of experts and their expenses. The other expenses are now funded from the Multi sectoral component. Programme secretariat activities were also contracted out up to 2001, but since then contractors have not been employed and these activities are funded from the general Eurostat budget.

Statistical Series	and EU Policies
Statistical domain	EU policies linked
Science and technology, research statistics	EU research policy, framework programmes
National accounts, EDP statistics, price statistics, BoP	Economic and Monetary Union
National accounts, external trade	Own resources
Trade in goods and services, balance of payments	Commercial Policy
Transport statistics	Common Transport Policy, TEN
Price statistics, regional GDP	Cohesion policy, Structural funds
Business statistics, trade statistics, services	Internal Market, four freedoms
statistics, FDI	
Business statistics, industry structure, production,	Industrial and other sector policies
short term indicators	
Structural indicators, indicators of sustainable	
development	development and the social agenda
Labour and other economic statistics	Growth and employment
e	Labour market and Social policy
protection, population and migration statistics	
Audiovisual statistics, culture statistics, health,	Culture, health, education, consumer protection
education statistics	
Agriculture and fisheries statistics	Common Agricultural and Fisheries Policies
Environment statistics	Sustainable development
Energy and industry statistics	Energy policies

Annex 4. Statistical Series and EU Policies

	Pilo	t Project	s in 2	002 and 2003	
	2002	Budget		2003	Budget
1.1	Quality in Statistics	400			
1.2	Macro economic statistics	1,180	1.1	Macro economic statistics	2,286
	Constant price estimates	200		Inventory on constant price estimates	280
	GNI inventories	180		GNI Inventories	340
	Quarterly national accounts	70			
	Transition from GDP to GNI	130			
	PPP Purchasing power parities	350		PPP Purchasing power parities	440
	HICP Harmonised consumer	170		HICP Harmonised consumer price	176
	price index			index	
	Government finance statistics	80		Public finance statistics for EDP	110
				Capital formation and capital stock	330
				Supply use tables/Input Output tables	330
				Sector accounts	280
1.3	External Trade and INTRASTAT	500	1.2	External Trade and INTRASTAT	400
1.4	ICT usage survey	550			
			1.3	Business Statistics	
				Transport statistics	600
				Short term statistics	150
				Prodcom	100
				Inward statistics on foreign affiliates	530
1.5	Social Statistics	1350	1.4	Social Statistics	
	Job vacancies survey SILC Survey on income and			Job vacancies survey	500
	living conditions			Health and disability statistics	250
	Health care			Health care and labour accounts	250
				Labour market policy statistics	300
				LFS Labour force survey	400
				Vocational training survey	350
				Educational finance statistics	200
1.6	Agriculture, environment and		1.5	Agriculture, environment and	
	regional statistics			regional statistics	
	Harmonised crop statistics	50			
	Harmonised milk statistics	300			
	Environment related structural	400		Environmental accounting	
	indicators				550
	Quality of regional statistics	270			
				Production and consumption of	200
				animal products	300
				LUCAS	100
				Early estimates on land area	400
				Agricultural accounts and prices	300
				Local territorial units	370

Annex 5. Pilot Projects in 2002 and 2003 Statistics MBPs

	Lead Contractor	20	000		20	01			20	02			20	03			20	04			20	05	
Sectoral																							
1999	CESD					01	1/5/01 -	- 30/8/	02														1
1999	ICON						29/`0	/01 - 3	31/10/0	2													1
1999	LANDSIS				24/	10/00 -	- 15/08	8/02															1
1999	ASA						15/10)/01 - 1	15/08/0	2													1
2000	ICON									29/01/0	02 - 29	/08/03											1
2000	LANDSIS									29/01/0	02 - 29	/08/03											1
2001	ICON												01/11/	02 - 30)/06/04								
2002	Artemis																	29	0/4/04 -	- 31/08/	/05		1
2002	ICON																	19/	/04/04	- 31/08	/05		
2002	ADAS																	16/	/04/04	- 31/08	/05		
2003	ICON																			30/	12/04	- 31/12	/05
2003	LANDSIS																			30/	12/04	- 31/12	/05
2003	UM																			30/	12/04	- 31/12	/05
Multi-																							
sectoral																							1
1999	DHV					26/	04/01 -	- 30//0	8/02														1
2000	GRANTS										01/09	/02 - 3	31/08/0	2									1
2001	GRANTS													13/0	5/03-0	3/06/04	4						
2002	GRANTS																		15	5/09/04			1
2003	GRANTS																			01/01	/05 – 3	31/12/0	5
Programme																							, T
Secretariat																							
1999	CAMIRE				01/	11/00 -	- 310/8	8/02															
2001	CAMIRE											01/09/0	02 - 31	/12/03									
																							1

Annex 6. Timelines of main activities and contractors

Year	Sector	Project Name	Budget (M€)	Contractor
2002	Quality in Statistics		0.40	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	Constant Price Estimates	0.20	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	GNI Inventories	0.18	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	Quarterly National Accounts	0.07	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	Transition GDP to GNI	0.13	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	PPP Purchasing Power Parities	0.35	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	HICP, Harmonised Consumer Price Index	0.17	Artemis
2002	Macro-economic Stats	Government Finance Statistics	0.08	Artemis
2002	External Trade and INTRASTAT		0.50	Artemis
2002	ICT Usage Survey		0.55	Artemis
2002	Social Statistics	Job Vacancies Survey	0.42	ICON
2002	Social Statistics	Survey on Income and Living Conditions	0.50	ICON
2002	Social Statistics	Health Care	0.43	ICON
2002	Agriculture, Environment Regional	Harmonised Crop Statistics	0.05	ADAS
2002	Agriculture, Environment Regional	Harmonised Milk Statistics	0.30	ADAS
2002	Agriculture, Environment Regional	Environment Related Structural Indicators	0.40	ADAS
2002	Agriculture, Environment Regional	Quality of Regional Statistics	0.27	ADAS
2002	CS Trainees	Secondment of CC NSO staff to Eurostat and/or EU NSOs for training placements	0.9	*
2002	MC Workshops	Participation in specific technical multi-country working groups, seminars and task forces.	1.9	*
2002	MC Workshops	Technical Assistance to support the multi-country activities	0.7	*
2002	CS formal training SM	Formal training courses in European statistical methods (to cover 10 participants per year per country, for two years).	0.5	*

Annex 7. Table of the contractors	per	project
-----------------------------------	-----	---------

2003	Social Statistics	Labour Market Policy Statistics	0.30	ICON
2003	Social Statistics	Job Vacancies Survey	0.50	ICON
2003	Social Statistics	Labour Force Survey	0.40	ICON
2003	Social Statistics	Vocational Training Survey	0.35	ICON
2003	Social Statistics	Educational Finance Statistics	0.20	ICON
2003	Social Statistics	Health and Disability Statistics	0.25	ICON
2003	Social Statistics	Health Care Labour Accounts	0.25	ICON
2003	Agriculture,	Production and consumption of animal products	0.30	LANDSIS
	Environment Regional			
2003	Agriculture,	LUCAS	0.40	LANDSIS
	Environment Regional			
2003	Agriculture,	Environment Accounting	0.55	Umwelt-
	Environment Regional			bundasamt
2003	Agriculture,	Early Estimates on Land Area and Crop Production	0.10	LANDSIS
	Environment Regional			
2003	Agriculture,	Agriculture Accounts and Prices	0.30	LANDSIS
	Environment Regional			
2003	Agriculture,	Local Territorial Units	0.37	Umwelt-
	Environment Regional			bundasamt

2003	CS Trainees	Secondment of CC NSO staff to Eurostat and/or EU NSOs	0.90	*
		for training placements		
2003	MC Workshops	Participation in specific technical multi-country working	1.80	*
	-	groups, seminars and task forces.		
2003	MC Workshops	Technical Assistance to support the multi-country activities	0.46	*
2003	CS formal training SM	Formal training courses in European statistical methods (to	0.50	*
	-	cover 10 participants per year per country, for two years).		

* Decentralised

Annex 8. Interim Evaluation Report with details of action taken by Eurostat

Report number and title:R/ZZ/STA/03.072, StatisticsProgrammes included in the report:ZZ-9911Statistics, ZZ-0027Statistics, ZZ-0109 Statistics

	Recommendation	Applied [Yes/No]	Responsibility for Follow-up	Deadline	Details of action / Remarks
1.	The next programming round should build on the information contained in the CDB and the DAS to identify gaps that will be addressed by the Phare support (both at multi-country and national programme levels). This information should be presented in a summarised form and updated on a regular basis.	No	Eurostat	Next programming exercise for Phare and transition facility	It is too late for the programming year 2004. From ES: it will be difficult to convince the future new MS to fill the CDB and the DAS on a compulsory base. It is under the responsibility of each AC. The programming takes place at the beginning of the year whereas the updates of the database are usually available only in April/May of the year, therefore, too late but we will now make an attempt to get a summary of weaknesses in the beneficiaries and to use it as input for the programming
2.	Topics where the quality of the data is still an issue should be clearly identified and action taken by Eurostat.	Yes	Eurostat	Already implemented	The next programmes will concentrate on the general quality of the data and the adaptation to the "new Acquis".
3.	Support for horizontal issues such as planning, HR management and marketing of statistical products could be developed in close co-ordination with relevant ongoing and planned Phare national programmes.	No	Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	According to ES, the need is partly addressed by the twinners, and this kind of support is to be organised nationally if the NSO asks for it. Due to the high profile of the participants and the trainers (executive or ex-executive directors of MS NSOs), it is reported that it will be extremely difficult to organise on a horizontal base. Nevertheless it will be proposed to organise short seminars on a ad hoc request.
4. 5.	The programming document should mention a general "roadmap" and the remaining tasks to ensure compliance to SA. The format and the content of the project fiches should be harmonised and improved for a higher quality and readability with i.e. a consistent level of details, a common structure of the budgets and costs and the contribution of the specific project to achieving compliance with the SA.	Yes/No	Eurostat	ASAP	 The new acquis can be considered as a roadmap for the STAT MBP. An effort will be done in the prioritisation of the projects. Special attention will be given to an harmonised format.
6.		No	Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	ES/A5 is also depending on exogenous conditions that hamper the speed to a rapid launch of projects. The deadlines are

	Recommendation	Applied [Yes/No]	Responsibility for Follow-up	Deadline	Details of action / Remarks
7.	completed in a timely manner and of good quality so that the maximum amount of time can be dedicated to implementation. Where there is a danger of running out of time for implementation, dividing projects into different phases over a number of programming years, should be investigated.	Yes			respected and efforts are done to give the maximum time to implementation. In addition, the projects are planned for shorter period. No big projects have been programmed for the coming years.
8.	The compliance database should also be able to deliver in a simple manner and overview of the remaining gaps to comply with the SA (see first recommendation).	No	Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	As mentioned for recommendation 1, after May 2004, the CCs will not be obliged to still fulfil the CDB, except if the obligation is extended to all MS (which is unlikely). The recommendation is still valid for the remaining CCs.
9.	The increased budget should be justified.		Eurostat	Next Phare programme	Conclusion withdrawn
10.	Eurostat should develop an integrated reporting format, for all activities.	Yes	Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	A simple template is already transmitted to the TU at PF level. At ToR level the contractors receive a more complete template with the relevant information.
•	A clear executive summary in the same format should be developed by all the contractors in a programming year to present in an integrated manner the activities covered by a programme. Each project should be explicitly linked with the programme objectives. An annual programme implementation report should be prepared by A5 including input and comments from the Technical Units.		Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	It will be done (it will be more relevant as the number of contractors may rise). Recommendation to the extent of setting up an annual programme implementation report is disregarded by Eurostat for the following reason: This kind of report is not asked by anybody. A5 is used to make ad hoc memos on the programmes when asked, and the added value of an extended annual report seems low to the participants. Reporting on programme level seems much more appropriate.
12.	The objectives should be refined and the indicators of achievement should be improved in their definition, and used for monitoring purpose at	No	Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	No other comments than those appended to the report

Recommendation	Applied [Yes/No]	Responsibility for Follow-up	Deadline	Details of action / Remarks
 management level. 13. Eurostat should develop indicators to follow the dissemination of the statistics once they are produced, in the CCs and through Eurostat. 14. Reference to the indicators should be mentioned at 	Yes	Eurostat		New Cronos and the other DB of ES make already the information available for anybody
project level (at least in the final report)	No	Eurostat		Efforts will be made to have at least one IoA per PF
15. Internal workshops and seminars should be used in order create an interactive sharing of this information;16. Internet and intranet, as well as electronic discussion groups should be used to disseminate materials.	No	Mainly CC NSOS Eurostat (only by encouraging the CC)	Next Phare / TF programme	The trainees will be briefed on how to disseminate the information once back home. Main Efforts to make this information available is up t o the CC NSOs.
17. The Commission's financial database (CRIS) should be updated more regularly, to follow the real financial flows.	No	this is not Eurostat responsibility	ASAP	A letter will be produced by E3 to the appropriate service of the CS.
18. Ways of taking this particular situation into account should be explored with respect to the regulations. As the access to specific experts is fundamental and that there are very few for each topic, one solution could be to base the selection of the contractor on its ability to co-ordinate and manage the different statistical projects, and to leave the selection of the technical experts as a task for the contractor in co-ordination with the TU during the initial phase of the project. Another way to explore is the framework contract mechanism.	Yes	Eurostat	Next Phare / TF programme	From the 2003 programme, in co-ordination with DG Enlarg D3, the projects are grouped in smaller contracts, with only some key experts needed to be mentioned in the tender. The contracts are service contracts.

Annex 9. List of interviews

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
DG Enlargement		I		
Bernd Wild	32.2		Bernd.wild@cec.eu.int	27/09/05
Unit A Romania Team	2952467			
DG Enlargement				
European Commission				
1049 Brussels				
Belgium	22.2		Towns town in a Course of	27/00/05
Tomas Henning	32 2		Tomas.henning@cec.eu.i	27/09/05
Unit A2 Bulgaria Team DG Enlargement	2990764		nt	
European Commission				
1049 Brussels				
Belgium				
Eurostat				
James Whitworth,	352 4301	352 4301	James.whitworth@cec.eu.	29/09/05
Head of Unit	36857	32669	int	2)/0)/03
International Statistical Co-operation	50057	52007	int	
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
Claudia Junker	352 4301	352 4301	Claudia.Junker@cece.eu.i	29/09/05
Chef d'equipe – Pays Candidats	35774	32139	nt	29109103
Technical Co-operation with Candidate	55771	52155		
Countries				
Eurostat				
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
Ieve Upeniece				28/09/05
Trainee,				
E4 Technical Co-operation with European and				
Mediterranean				
Eurostat				
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
Mariana Vasile				28/09/05
Trainee				
E4 Statistical Co-operation with European				
and Mediterranean				
Eurostat				
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg	252 4201		Andreas Imerican Contra	29/00/05
Andreas Kreuger	352 4301		Andreas.kreuger@cec.eu.i	28/09/05
Eurostat Book Building	36397		nt	
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg Ana Franco	352 4301		Ano franco acco an int	29/8/05
Ana Franco Unit F2 Labour Market Statistics	352 4301 33209		Ana.franco@cec.eu.int	29/0/03
Eurostat	33209			
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
	1	1		

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Eurostat		1		A A I A A
Palona Seoane Spiegelberg	352 4301		Paloma.Seoane@cec,eu.in	29/8/05
Unit F3 Living Conditions and Social	34143		t	
Protection				
Eurostat				
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
Dolores Linares	352 4301		Dolores.linares@cec.eu.in	29/8/05
E1 Agricultural Statistics – Methodology	33003		t	
Eurostat				
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
Roberto Barcellan	352 4301		Roberto.Barcellan@cec.e	29/8/05
Unit C2 Economic Accounts – Production	35802		u.int	
Eurostat				
Bech Building				
5, rue Alphonse Weicker,				
L-2721 Luxembourg				
Contractors	1	1	I	
Phillipe Petit ,	352 45 91	352 45 91	Phillipe.petit@artemis.lu	29/09/05
Managing Director,	45	45	Timpe.petit@artemis.iu	29/09/03
Artemis,	43	43		
15, rie Kalchesbruck,				
L-1852 Luxembourg	252 45 01	252 45 01		20/00/05
Isabelle Chesnay,	352 45 91	352 45 91	Isabelle.chesnay@artemis	29/09/05
Artemis,	45	45	.lu	
15, rie Kalchesbruck,				
L-1852 Luxembourg				/
Christophe Duhamel				29/09/05
Project Manager				
Landsis g.e.i.e				
49 boulevard de la Petrusse				
L-2320 Luxembourg				
Edward James Cook				29/09/05
Project Manager				
Landsis g.e.i.e				
49 boulevard de la Petrusse				
L-2320 Luxembourg				
Steve Ford	44 1995			10/11/05
Project Manager	606189			
ADAS				
Wolverhampton				
United Kingdom				
Dr Stephan Krische	49 221	49 221	Stephan.krische@icon-	12/10/05
ICON Institut	93743267	937435	institute.de	12/10/03
Von-Groote Str. 28	75775207	201700	institute.de	
50968 Koln				
Germany				
Slovakia Votoring Strangenergy	401.0	401.0	atman an arcs (2)	17/10/05
Katarina Straponova	421 2	421 2	straponova@	17/10/05
Director	5975 2122	5292 3258	employment.gov.sk	
Social Policy Institute				
Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family				
Spitalska 6				
816 43 Bratislava				
Slovak Republic				
•		•		

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Martin Valentovic	421 2	421 2	valentovic@mesa10.sk	17/10/05
MESA 10	5443 5328	5443 2189	Ŭ	
Hviezdoslavovo nam c 17				
811 02 Bratislava 1				
Slovak Republic				
L'udovit Odor	421 2	421 2	lodor@mfsr.sk	17/10/05
Director	5249 1366	5958 2488		
Financial Policy Institute				
Ministry of Finance				
Stefanovicova 5				
P.O. Box 82				
817 82 Bratislava 15				
Slovak Republic				
Maria Starkbauerova				17/10/05
International Co-operation Dept				17/10/05
SOSR				
Mileticova 3				
824 67 Bratislava 26				
Slovak Republic				
Judite Horvathova			Indite howethered	17/10/05
			Judita.horvathova@ statistics.sk	1//10/05
International Co-operation Dept			statistics.sk	
SOSR				
Mileticova 3				
824 67 Bratislava 26				
Slovak Republic				1 - 11 0 10 -
Jana Jakubekova			Jana.jakubekova@statistic	17/10/05
Macro Data and Quarterly Accounts			s.sk	
SOSR				
Mileticova 3				
824 67 Bratislava 26				
Slovak Republic				
Alexander Pfluger	421 2	421 2	pflugler@statistics.sk	17/10/05
SOSR	50236795	50236630		
Mileticova 3				
824 67 Bratislava 26				
Slovak Republic				
Alena Illit'ová			Alena.Illit'ová@statistics	17/10/05
Director			@sk	
National Accounts			\bigcirc	
SOSR				
Mileticova 3				
824 67 Bratislava 26				
Slovak Republic				
Ludmilla Ivancikova			Ludmilla.Ivancikova@sk	17/10/05
Pulation Statistics				1,110,00
SOSR				
Mileticova 3				
824 67 Bratislava 26				
Slovak Republic				
		1	1	
Hungary	26 1 222	26 1 212	a	10/10/05
Laazlo Neumann	36-1-332	36-1-312	neumann@lab.hu	18/10/05
National Employment Office	7787	7044		
H-1066 Budapest,				
Mozsar u. 14				
Budapest				
Hungary				

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Hungary	26 1 201	26 1 201	1	10/10/07
Imre Bognar	36-1-301 4243	36-1-301 4798	boignar@akii.hu	18/10/05
Agricultural Statistics Institute Ministry of Agriculture	4243	4/90		
Kossuth L., ter 11				
1055 Budapest				
Hungary				
Eva Laczka	36 1 345	36-1-345	Eva.laczka@office.ksh.hu	18/10/05
Agriculture and Environment Statistics	6575	6680	<u> </u>	
CŠO				
II, Keleti Karoly U. 5-7				
H-1024 Budapest				
Hungary				10/10/07
Judit Lakatos	36-1-345	36-1-345	Judit.lakatos@ksh.gov.	18/10/05
Living Standard and Human Resources	6204	6379	hu	
Statistics CSO				
II, Keleti K. u 5-7				
H-1024 Budapest				
Hungary				
Andras Herceg		1	Andras.Herceg@ksh.hu	18/10/05
Industrial Statistics			B@	
CSO				
II, Keleti K. u 5-7				
H-1024 Budapest				
Hungary				
Istvan Bedekovics			Istvan.Bedekovics@ksh.h	18/10/05
Deputy Director			u	
National Accounts Department				
CSO II, Keleti K. u 5-7				
H-1024 Budapest				
Hungary				
Csak Ligeti	36-1-345	36-1-345	Csak.ligeti@office.ksh.hu	18/10./05
National Accounts Department	6448	1192	5	
CSO				
II, Keleti K. u 5-7				
H-1024 Budapest				
Hungary				
Katalin Balint	36 1 345	36-1-345	Katalin.balint@ksh.hu	18/10/05
European Coordination and International	6018	6374		
Department CSO				
II, Keleti K. u 5-7				
H-1024 Budapest				
Hungary				
Bulgaria	1	1	1	I
Yordanka Anastassova	359 2	359 2	yanastassova@nsi.bg	21/10/05
European Integration Dept	9857 504	9857 527		
National Statistics Institute				
2 Panayat Volov Str				
1038 Sofia				
Bulgaria	250.0	250.00.55		01/10/05
Adriana Ilieva	359 2	359 9857	Euro-int@nsi.bg	21/10/05
European Integration Dept National Statistics Institute	9857 779	323		
2 Panayat Volov Str				
1038 Sofia, Bulgaria				
1050 Solia, Duigalia		1		<u> </u>

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Mr Sergey Tsvetarsky	+359 2		stsvetarsky@nsi.bg	21/10/05
Head of Division for Regional Statistics	9857 702			
National Statistical Institute				
2, P Volov Str				
1038 Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Stefka Blazheva	359 2		sblazheva@nsi.bg	21/10/05
Migration Statistics	9857 553			
National Statistical Institute 2, P Volov Str				
2, F Volov Su 1038 Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Ms Maria Jordanova				21/10/05
Agriculture Accounts and Prices				21/10/03
National Statistics Institute				
2, P Volov Str				
1038 Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Ms Dora Mirtcheva				21/10/05
Survey on Income and Living Conditions				
National Statistics Institute				
2, P Volov Str				
1038 Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Ms Antoaneta Hristova				21/10/05
Macro Economics Department				
National Statistics Institute				
2, P Volov Str				
1038 Sofia				
Bulgaria	250.0	250.2.000		01/10/05
Emil Dimitrov	359 2	359 2 980	Dimitrov.e@bnbank.org	21/10/05
Director Statistics	9145 1243	2425		
Bulgarian National Bank				
1 Alexander Battenberg Square				
1000 Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Jenya Dinkova	359 2	329 2	j.dinkova@minfin.bg	21/10/05
Director for Management of EU Funds	9859 2909	9859 2929	J.ag	
NAC				
Ministry of Finance				
102, Rakovski Str				
1040 Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Iana Paliova	359 2	359 2 980	i.pavliova@minfin.bg	21/10/05
Director	9859 2130	6863		
Treasury Directorate				
Ministry of Finance				
102, Rakovski Str				
1040 Sofia				
Bulgaria		0.50 0		01/10/05
Yavor Stoyanov	359 2	359 2	ystoyanov@mrrb.govern	21/10/05
Director	9405450	9874077	ment.bg	
Regional Policy Directorate				
17-19 St Cyril and Methodius Street				
1202 Sofia Bulgaria				
Bulgaria				1

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Bulgaria T				01/10/05
Temenuzhka Zlatanova				21/10/05
Planning Analyses and Forecasting Dept Ministry of Labour				
2, Triaditca Street				
Sofia				
Bulgaria				
Sabina Stoeva				21/10/05
Human Resources				
Ministry of Labour				
2, Triaditca Street				
Sofia				
Bulgaria				
<u>Estonia</u>				
Mare Zaneva	372 6 259		Mare.zaneva@stat.ee	
Head	244			
International Co-operation Service Estonian Statistical Office				
Estolian Statistical Office Endla 15				
15174 Tallinn				
Estonia				
Ivar Himma	372 6 259		Ivar.himma@stat.ee	24/10/05
Leading Expert	164			, 10, 00
Agricultural Statsitics Department	-			
Estonian Statistical Office				
Endla 15				
15174 Tallinn				
Estonia				
Eveli Sokman	372 6 259		Eveli.sokman@stat.ee	24/10/05
Head	241			
Price Statistics Department Estonian Statistical Office				
Estoman Statistical Office Endla 15				
15174 Tallinn				
Estonia				
Urve Kask	372 6 259		Urve.kask@stat.ee	24/10/05
Head	220		<u> </u>	
Social Statistics Department				
Estonian Statistical Office				
Endla 15				
15174 Tallinn				
Estonia				
Iljen Dedetkajava	372 6 259		Iljen.dedegkajeva@stat.ee	24/10/05
Head	374			
Input Output Service Estonian Statistical Office				
Estoman Statistical Office Endla 15				
15174 Tallinn				
Estonia				
Tatjana Smokova	372 6 259		Tatjana.smokova@stat.ee	24/10/05
Leading Expert	145		- ugunu.shiokovu(ugsut.co	2.,10,00
National Accounts Service				
Estonian Statistical Office				
Endla 15				
15174 Tallinn				
Estonia				

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Estonia			<u> </u>	
Piret Antov	372 6 269		pantov@epbe.ee	25/10/05
Economist	158			
Balance of Payments Department				
Estonian Central Bank				
Estonia Blvd 13				
15095 Tallinn				
Estonia				
Poland				
Jolanta Szczerbinska			j.szczerbinska@stat.gov.p	24/10/05
Head			1	
Department of International Co-operation				
GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208				
PL – 00925 Warszawa				
Poland				
Grazyna Jurczak			g.jurczak@stat.gov.pl	24/10/05
Head of Unit				
Department of International Co-operation				
GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208				
PL – 00925 Warszawa				
Poland				A 1/1 A 10 F
Tomasz Pawlak			t.pawlak@stat.gov.pl	24/10/05
Adviser				
Department of International Co-operation				
GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208				
PL – 00925 Warszawa				
Poland	49.22 (09			24/10/05
Ewa Kucharska	48 22 608		e.kurharska@stat.gov.pl	24/10/05
Head of Unit	3521			
Department of National Accounts				
GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208 PL – 00925 Warszawa				
Poland	48 22 608		a.bienkunska@stat.gov.pl	24/10/05
Anna Szukielojc-Bienkunska Head of Unit	48 22 608		a.bienkunska@stat.gov.pi	24/10/05
	3321			
Department of Social Statistics GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208				
PL – 00925 Warszawa, Poland				
Liliana Kursa	48 22 608		1 kursa Octat gay pl	25/10/05
Head of Unit	48 22 608		l.kursa@stat.gov.pl	23/10/03
	3340			
Department of Agricultural and Environmental Statistics				
GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208				
PL – 00925 Warszawa, Poland				
Grzegorz Kozmin	48 22 608		g.kosmin@stat.gov.p	25/10/05
Chief Specialist	48 22 008 3847		g.kosmm@stat.gov.p	23/10/03
-	5047			
Department of Analyses and Regional Statistics				
GUS				
Al. Niepodleglosci 208				
PL – 00925 Warszawa				
Poland				
i Utatiu			1	l

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Zbigniew Florianczyk	48 22 505		florianczyk@ierigz.waw.	25/10/05
Agricultural and Food Economics Research	4570		pl	
Institute				
Warsaw Dalam d				
Poland	49 22 (22		Hanna maitus Queinnal as	25/10/05
Hanna Kulik-Wojtys Ministry of Agriculture and Rural	48 22 623 1103		Hanna.wojtys@minrol.go v.pl	25/10/05
Development	1105		v.pi	
Wspolna 30				
PL – 00930 Warsaw				
Poland				
Romania		I	I	I
Mr. Secareanu	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Vice President	3124875			
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Tatiana Baranescu	40 21 312	311 2389	tatiana@insse.ro	19/10/05
Deputy Director	0605			
EU Integration Department				
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Adrian Ciuchea	40 21 318		aciuchea@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director General	1875		actuenca aginsse.ro	17/10/05
Macroeconomic Statistics	10,0			
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Silvea Caragea	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director	3124875			
National Accounts				
National Institute of Statistics 16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Sandica Neagu	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director	3124875			
Regional Statistics				
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania	10.61			10/10/2 -
Mihaela Bratu	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Regional Statistics	3124875			
National Institute of Statistics 16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
		1	l	l

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Georgeta Mondiru	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
National Accounts	3124875			
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Andreea Vasile	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director	3124875		\bigcirc	
Living Conditions				
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Iulian Gheorghe	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director	3124875		Tomstattamsserio	19/10/05
Price Statistics	5121075			
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542 Romania				
	40 21		nomentat@incase.no	10/10/05
Violeta Zorici			romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Agricultural Prices	3124875			
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Jana Apostol	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Social Statistics Labour Force	3124875			
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Ion Florescu	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director General	3124875			
Agricultural Statistics				
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Mairia Ioana Nicola	40 21		romstat@insse.ro	19/10/05
Director	3124875			
Agricultural Statistics				
National Institute of Statistics				
16 Libertatii Ave				
Sector 5				
Bucharest, 70542				
Romania				
Octavian Baciu	40 21 307		communicare@mass.ro	20/10/05
Senior Counsellor	2300		communicare@mass.ro	20/10/03
Pre Accession Processes	2300			
Ministry of Agriculture				
B-dul Carol I, 24				
Sector 3 Bucharest, Romania				

Name / Institution / Address	Phone	Fax	Email	Dates
Mirasandu Pirianu	40 21	40 21	piuagr@maa.ro	20/10/05
EU PIU	3072459	3110276		
Ministry of Agriculture				
Ministry of Agriculture				
B-dul Carol I, 24				
Sector 3 Bucharest				
Romania				
Ileana Neamtu	40 21 318	40 21 318	ilean@caspis.ro	20/10/05
Counsellor	1155	1152		
Commission for Anti Poverty (CASPIS)				
Chancellery of Prime Minister				
No 1 Piata Victorei				
Sector 1				
Bucharest				
Romania				
Cosmin Priciu	40 21 318	40 21 318	cosmin@caspis.ro	20/10/05
Commission for Anti Poverty (CASPIS)	1155	1152		
Chancellery of Prime Minister				
No 1 Piata Victorei				
Sector 1				
Bucharest				
Romania				

Information Source	Title	Date
Ecotec	Interim Evaluation of the European Union Pre-Accession	5/04/05
Ecotec	Instrument Phare: Bulgaria, Public Administration Interim Evaluation of the European Union Pre-Accession Instrument Phare: Romania, Public Administration	11/07/05
EMS Consortium	Monitoring and Interim Evaluation of the European Union Pre Accession Instrument Phare	29/10/03
OMAS Consortium	Annual Assessment for Assistance funded under ZZ-9716 and ZZ-9813 Statistical Co-operation Programme	27/04/00
European Commission	Country Monitoring Reports, 2000 to 2004 Estonia, Bulgaria, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovakia	Various dates.
European Commission	A Strategy for Statistical Co-operation With Acceding and Candidate Countries, 2003-2006	01/06/04
European Commission	A Strategy for Compliance in Statistics in Candidate Countries 2000-2002	Spring 2000
European Commission	Commission Decision of 2004 on Statistics Programme to be funded by Transition Facility	
European Commission	Commission Decisions of 2001-5 Establishing Phare Multi- Beneficiary Statistical Co-operation Programmes in 2001 to 2005	
European Commission	Progress Report: Bulgaria	05/07/05
European Commission	Progress Report: Romania	05/07/05
Artemis	Final Report 2002 Multi-Beneficiary Programme (Lot 1).	
ICON	Final Report 2002 Multi-Beneficiary Programme (Lot 2).	September 2005
ADAS	Final Report 2002 Multi- Beneficiary Programme (Lot 3).	10/09/05
European Commission	Phare Multi-Beneficiary Statistical Co-operation Programme 2003: Technical Assistance ('Grant Agreement')	
CAMIRE	Romanian Statistical System: Global Assessment	April 2002
CAMIRE	Hungarian Statistical System: Global Assessment	April 2002
European Commission	Joint Standard Quality Report on Labour Force Survey and Regional Labour Market Statistics, Bulgaria, 2003	2004
Eurostat	Evaluation of Compliance With Legal Acts. Agenda Item for Business Statistics Directors' Meeting.	6/06/05
National Statistical Institute of Bulgaria	125 Years: Bulgarian Statistical Institution	2005
National Institute of Statistics of Romania	Quality Report Regional Accounts by Industry. November 2004. Romania	November 2004.
Technopolis	Study Feasibility and Cost Effectives Assessment of the Externalisation of the Implementation of TAIEX	February 2005
World Bank	Quest for Equitable Growth in the Slovak Republic	22/09/05
World Bank	Growth, Employment and Living Standards in Pre Accession Poland.	22/03/04

Annex 10.	. List of documer	nts referred to	during the	Evaluation

Internet site of Eurostat: http://forum.europa.eu.int/irc/dsis/candidate/info/data/candidatecountries/